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In the 1920's if you had congolium on, your floor, you would have been considered Posh, Congiolium was, I suppose in a crude form a thick tarred paper with a coloured design on the, upside. It was so easily torn that even laying it was a problem and if your floor was uneven, with boards sticking up, or even some below the level of others, within weeks the floor covering would crack and split.

By the 1930's we had linoleum and may even have had 'inlaid' linoleum. This was made from a mixture of cork and linseed oil after processing on huge machines and a design printed in its later stages.

Kirkcaldy, the 'Lang Toon'' was famous for it. Why, you could smell the linseed in the train miles before you reached Kirkcaldy.

Restaurants and ships used a better quality called 'battle, ship' it was very thick and would last a lifetime.

Of course, in Dundee, you could buy carpet squares made of jute and printed usually in floral greens and browns, probably because blue and red were fugitive colours and quickly faded. These were usually laid by the middle classes in their parlour or best room.
All this was to change. A minister watching his wife sewing on her Singer sewing machine, I believe it was, thought what a waste of time running one line at a time. The job could be done so much quicker if rows of needles could be invented to do the job.

From this idea a 32 needle machine was put together and 'Candlewick', as it became known, was born. I still remember the pride when mother got her first candlewick bedspread it became extremely popular and the pile height varied according to quality.

In Chattanooga, the place mentioned in the Chattanooga Choo Choo song, the 32 needle idea soon gave someone the idea of increasing the needles to whatever width was needed to make 9' and 12' wide carpets. By squeezing the pitch of needle the figure of 932 needles which was needed for a 12' wide pile carpet was achieved. It took a little time to solve the problems, i.e. where to house 932 spools of material and feed them by an overhead route to the needles. But it was done and tufted carpets for wall‑to‑wall carpeting was born. This was in the mid‑1950's and, of course, it took seven or eight years to reach Britain. It was to prove the start of a boom time for British carpet manufacturers and their suppliers of barking cloths plus synthetic yarns on cones holding 8 or 9 lbs, each.

Originally, of course, all the backing cloths were jute, but later polypropylene, and later still, non‑wovens became great rivals for this huge and expanding market, for nearly every house in Britain would be covered with tufted carpet. The price was so cheap originally for a tufted carpet could be produced about twenty times quicker than by Axminster or Wilton looms.
It became obvious to our board that tufting was a bandwagon they should get aboard. The jute cloth was selling well, so much so that our Manchester office agent who was selling on commission was making too much money and had to be put on a larger annual salary and the commission stopped. However, as we were in synthetics in a small way, we should now expand and get into this profitable business in a much larger way

Lewis Robertson, our Managing Director, sent for me to tell me that a partnership was being set up and that a mill was to be built in Glenrothes and that they would need a Manager. Being a joint venture he could not promise me the lob, but he thought it highly likely that if I applied for the job when it appeared in The Courier I would get the position.

I duly wrote after the position which meant a higher salary and was granted an interview. All the partners were at the interview and Lewis Robertson, declaring an interest, left the room while I was interviewed by the others, I must have impressed the panel for I was offered the post.

In due course, a replacement was found for me. at M & C Hills This was when I met Hendry M. Speirs, for the first time. He came from Baxter Bros, and had worked in their testing laboratory under Mr. Parsons, a respected figure in the trade. He really had little, if any, managerial experience and not too well thought of at Baxter’s for Bill Ogilvy, Weaving Manager and a friend of mine, said that if he had not moved to us, he was to be laid off. Not a good reference, but he could talk and exuded charm that could take in many people, obviously George Thomson the Engineering Manager who was a pal of his, had pulled a few strings with Lewis Robertson, the Managing Director, to get. Hendry M Speirs the job. A fact Hendry tended to forget in later years,

However, going round the mills he was receptive and was very keen to pick up as much information about everything as possible, and I felt with his natural gift of the gab, he would get on fine,

When I broke the news to Lottie that I had got a new job with a nice increase in salary, she was pleased at first, until it dawned on her that it was not very practical to live in Monifieth and work in Glenrothes. So, it would mean that in a very short time she would have to leave her dream house and find another in Glenrothes New Town.

Now when we took up residence in London, we chose an area that did not have many Scots living in it and this had been a mistake. We decided, therefore to be wary. Glenrothes Corporation were offering executive houses for rent to those coming in to run industry there, and so we decided to take on at 23 Napier Road and see how the land lay. After all we could then have all the time in the world to find a house, probably at Leslie or Ladybank, where nice country cottages went up for sale quite frequently.

At, this time there was no Tay Bridge to get across, although it was being built, and so every time I went to GIenrothes meant a journey via Perth and the Bein Inn to the New Town, The factory was going up slowly ‑ far too slowly ‑ and on my routine visits I often found all the tradesmen missing away on other jobs the Corporation considered urgent and, of course, we had no one there to complain when this happened. 
The Board, therefore, quite rightly, decided I should take up residence as soon as possible and supervise the whole building project to protect our interests, and so we moved again.

I suppose I could say I was there from the first nut and bolt and it was necessary to be there; very seldom were builders, Joiners, painters missing and if they were I was on to Glenrothes Corporation for the position to be rectified.

We had all sorts of unforeseen snags, For example we needed pits below our carding machines to allow mechanics to do repairs below them and collect fibres which would fall during processing. The pits were duly dug and lined but in the mornings there would be two to three feet of water in them. On studying old plans at the local architects' office, we discovered an old water course had run lengthways right through where our mill stood. Now we needed to 'tank' them. This is in addition to normal coating with cement, tar had to be applied thickly, which when dry hardened and kept the water out. Then, on digging pits outside our perimeter wall for pumps we struck seams of coal. Not wide ones, but enough for workers to carry home bags of free coal. After all, Fife is a mass of coal seams, some being just a few inches below the ground

As soon as the walls and roof was on and doors secured we were able to install the first of the MIV B cards and the draw-frames to go with it, while our mechanic from Dundee erected a pair of spinning frames.

Storage bins had to be allowed for and for six cards we needed twelve bins each capable of holding 23 tons of coloured or white fibre; trunking had to be run along the walls with 3 cut in and off to each bin.
All this was new ideas and lots of consultations with suppliers and myself were required to get just the right type of materials to use.

Staff had to be advertised for and brought in and when needed to prevent people hanging around doing nothing. Glenrothes was in the middle of what had been a mining area and so had no textile skills. All workers would need to be trained ‑ quite a daunting task.

Office furniture had to be ordered and a room set aside for quality control equipment.
The finest air conditioning was ordered. This drew air from outside which passed through jet streams of water and was washed clean, as was returned air from inside the works area. The trunking in the roof at its largest part was big enough to drive a car through. The mechanic shop and electrician had a room set aside for their stores.

The mill was slowly taking shape ‑ but it took time.

THE PARTNERS

It is not easy working for a kind of consortium,

It was explained to me at one point that I could never be a full director as I did ​not belong to ONE company; I was part of four. Scott & Robertson merging meant they now held '2' lots of 25% (50%) of shares while A. & S. Hendry had (25%) and the hidden partner in the early stages was Marshall & Brush 25%.

However, after a very short time, Alf Paton for A & S Hendry indicated he wished to pull out. I did not get the full reasons for this, but rumour said that they were loathe to put in more cash for further expansion, so then 25% was split, 12.5% to S. & R. and 12.5% to M. & B. This meant 62.5% held by S. & R. and 37.5% to M. & B., who by now were taken over by Guthrie Industries, owners of Templeton Carpets. Guthrie Industries was represented by lan Coates, their trouble-shooter, a tough negotiator who did not mince words. I found him fair but hard. He told me himself he preferred his staff to have a love‑hate relationship with him. He paid his female secretary a really high salary, but had her in tears often. He gave me rough time at meetings, but could see the problems and tended to assist to overcome them. He talked the board into buying a wool system which needed the extra 50,000 sq. ft. of factory This would help Templeton buy yarn from us at favourable prices. The factory then covered 100,000 ft

Soon after the wool system was installed he gave the partners the option – let Guthrie buy the 100% shareholding OR buy his 37.5% from him. I was never at any of these real policy meetings but the outcome was that S. & R would buy his 37.5% and this they did. Now it was solely owned by Scott & Robertson. They could 'make a kirk or a mill out of it'.
JOHN CABLE JOINS THE COMPANY (.S & R)

The firm advertised for a salesman and John Cable, who worked for jute Industries as junior salesman in the London area, applied for the job. Lewis Robertson interviewed him. One of the clever moves Lewis made was never to disclose the salary he was offering so that only the one actually offered the job knew the salary. This prevented interviewees talking to friends and colleagues and telling the sort of salaries the group were paying.

One of John Cable's first places he went to after getting the position was his old office at Jute Industries and boasted of the salary he was getting, far more than J.I. paid. This got to the ears of the directors of JP and how unsettling it was for their staff. A director from J.I. telephoned Lewis regarding this. I think Lewis would agree that this was not playing the game and would apologise.

I wish I had been a fly on the wall when he sent for Cable and 'ticked' him off, Lewis could be quite lucid and Cable was reported by his colleagues to have looked white, shaken and almost demoralised. He would remember this all his life. I have no doubt.

After the mill was up and running, I used to attend board meetings at Dundee and afterwards was asked to a working lunch with John Cable, Hendry Speirs, Jim Gardner and Bob Simpson, the company treasurer The latter was a highly intelligent chap and no doubt a good C. A., but he was hopeless at expressing himself. He got tongue‑tied whenever he was at important meetings and I always wondered who had interviewed him for the lob.

These four, even in my presence, spoke of themselves as the "Big Four" who would one day run the company between them. They were all ambitious and I wondered often what would happen if one got a higher promotion than the other presumably the main board did not know of this. They had these weekly expense paid luncheons which were never questioned. Perhaps this was when the big four should have been nipped in the bud. The usual place they went was the Park Hotel, on the Coupar Angus road, Lochee, and over the months the owners must have got sick of their behaviour which often was not that of gentlemen.

OFFICE STAFFING

When I set up the new mill my mind went back to my days in A. P. Mathieson & Co Ltd when all that was needed was a manager, a chief clerk, a general clerk and an office boy or girl. To my mind there was no need for any more but I decided that was the number with which I would start, after all I could increase if the need was found to arise.

My initial staff therefore, was Willie Pearson, to be chief clerk. Now I knew Will as a most conscientious chap who worked with me in Thomas Thomson, Blairgowrie, but he gave that up to run, of all things, a fish and chip shop in Blairgowrie. This meant he and his wife had to work every night after preparing all day On the Braemar Games night he had to peel literally tons of potatoes and they did not see enough of their two young boys. I tempted him to come and join me, Glenrothes would give them a new house, or even accommodate his wife's mother with a granny house and he would have a decent salary. He accepted the offer and came to Glenrothes

My other clerk was David Willkie who had been a bank employee who did a stupid thing and lost his job. He was ideal for stock-keeping and ordering of the many fibres I needed and keeping an eye on re‑ordering levels.

My typist/clerkess was Rae. A really nice, obliging girl and finally Margaret, a 15 year old girl I used as a gofer and did all the odd easy jobs.

And so with the help of computerised wages and statistics done at Dundee everything ran pretty smoothly

I decided to have one foreman per shift. In Dundee we would have had three; a batching/preparing foreman, a spinning foreman and a winding foreman, but in Dundee they would be on three floors. Here we had the whole layout in one long shop floor and so one could handle it.

We started up one mechanic per shift and only one electrician for the whole mill who would be on call if anything broke down during the evening or night shift. It all worked rather well (This staffing should be compared with the staffing when we closed seven years later.)

It should be noted, however, that we had the odd problem. For instance, being in sole charge I too, was on call day or night and at midnight was often up to the mill to 'pass a colour match'. The customer would send up a tuft or two of coloured fibre and this usually meant three ton to be dyed this shade. However, we often could not really tell if a blend matched up until it was carded. Often the order started up during the shift, so I was called out to pass it, One shift I came in and Willie Clarke, the foreman, got me to pass the colour "by the way," he said "I got rid of that left over green tonight in No. 2 bin". I thought for a minute and replied "Willie, we have no green going through this week. Let's see it." He went to bin 2 ‑ horror of horrors! In a bin of yellow was dotted about lots of tufts of green. The penny dropped, Willie was colour blind He simply could not see that there was two colours mixed in the bin.

I got a squad to unpick it with great difficulty, but from that day, on my instruction, the doctor made every employee pass a colour blind test by the use of the Japanese method, that of using coloured dots. A normal person can see a number, but a colour blind person looking at the same page would see a different number.

Willie, however, had his uses. We often had, instead of 912 cones required for a customer, 920 or more. These extra cones could not be sent, but a repeat order might be short the following week. So same colour, different batch shade, could it be a near enough match to prevent a lined effect in the tufted carpet. Willie was an expert here, due to his colour blindness he was able to detect subtle shade differences ‑If Willie said it was near enough, it was near enough

After a few years Willie went off to have a hammer toe operated on. I decided to pop into his home that evening to ask his wife how he was after his operation. I was met at the door by a weeping wife. Willie had died under the anaesthetic, Evidently Willie had only one lung and it is unbelievable to think that the hospital did not realise this. Something went wrong and we lost a gentleman and a friendly chap whom I thought of with great esteem.

I also had John Holt as a foreman who had been with me in Dundee. He knew the ropes, having already worked in synthetics, so he proved a big asset. He also got a new house which really helped when recruiting staff.

Lastly, I had an Irishman who went about whistling pipe tunes ail day. He was a reasonable foreman, but he told me he was on the short leit for my job earlier ‑ God help the firm if he had got it. He needed guidance on nearly everything.

SELLING YARN 
NOVEMBER 1970

The mill was running well by this time and the only thing that bothered me was the sales set‑up. I was responsible for making up prices and having them checked by Willie Pearson our chief clerk. It was quite a tricky job, especially if you were using three colours in the blend, with a different percentage of each colour, with fibre that had three prices (example given later),

The trouble was that these were the prices we needed to get to show a reasonable profit, but we were in the hands of our sales people, Jim Gardner in particular. He really dictated the prices with a take it or leave it, knowing full well I needed to keep the mill running as standing machines did not make a profit. His usual excuse for cutting my price was that it was what the opposition was taking.
Strange, but much later, when a new set‑up was put into practice making Sales responsible for profits, he could get anything up to 2d a pound over my original prices. Aye ‑ it's easy to sell if you take lower prices.

In 1970 Lewis Robertson, who was one of the astutest businessmen I knew, put out the attached paper, which really exonerates me in every way, showing where the fault in our system lay ‑ in other words, Head Office. 
paper referred to

TAY SPINNERS Ltd. 
13/11/70

TAY TEXTILES COMMISSION AN D SPECIAL, PRICES

The present Profit position in Tay Spinners is quite a reasonable one; we are making between 3% and 4% profit on Sales. Tay Textiles receive a commission of 3% on all Sales and Kingsmead receive 2% special discount on all yarn that they purchase from us. This Sales commission and discount is payable irrespective of whether Tay Spinners is operating profitably or not and is not affected by the process we have to take for our yarn sales.
While profits are flowing to Tay Spinners and good prices are being obtained and orders and output are at reasonable levels, everything falls into its proper place and there are few difficulties and not many frustrations; but when output declines or when special low prices have to be taken, then almost the entire brunt falls upon Tay Spinners; the co‑parents Continue to collect their commission and discount at the same levels as previously, although perhaps on a smaller volume of Sales.

It can happen, and has happened in the past that the co‑parents can continue to make handsome profits at a time when Tay Spinners are struggling to break-even or are making losses; this is manifestly unfair to the producing company, and ever worse gives rise to a feeling of frustration and of near despair among the staff at Glenrothes.

If our philosophy is to give credit for profit where it is due, then it is quite clear that our present system and level of commission inadvertently counter this philosophy in the case of Tay
 Spinners especially when trade turns downwards. I am concerned about profit and about the maintenance of morale and esprit at Glenrothes to which profit contributes greatly; I am also concerned about justice and fair play as between manufacturer, seller and customer. May I suggest that we depart from the fixed commission basis in periods of price pressure so that when contracts are taken at cut prices, a special reduced commission should be negotiated between Spinners and Textiles to cover such cut price contracts.


This arrangement should, of course, apply also to Kingsmead, and if Tay Textiles are prepared to operate flexible commissions I intend to approach Kingsmead to apply a similar method to their contracts; it would be conditional that flexibility must apply to both co‑parents or to neither.

ACW
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2

Note handwritten by H. Duffus

Unknown to me & possibly LFR, A. Webster our financial Director was taking 38% for the firm’s overheads (I’m also sure the other partners did not know this also).
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JIM BOAG VISITS GLENROTHES

Only once did Jim visit us at the mill in Glenrothes. Being a main board director I presume he wanted to see for himself the size of the operation being run. He wanted to help me get any further equipment or machines I thought necessary. At this time I did have need of a further Gemmil & Dunsmore Twist Frame and he said he would see what he could do. He invited me to dinner that night in the Golden Acorn; We had a pleasant evening talking about plans for Greenock and old colleagues. Jim had booked a room to stay the night. I went home about 11.30 p.m.

At 2 a.m. in the morning my telephone rang – “Harry, I think I'm dying. Get me a doctor". "Right, I said "and I'll be along right away". I telephone my doctor and explained the position. The doctor was in Rotary with me and I suppose that helped. He would come immediately. I got dressed with alacrity and drove to the hotel. Jim had given me the room number, so I went straight in. He was rolling about on the bed with sweat pouring off him. 
Within minutes the doctor was there, examined him and gave him a needle. "That will sort him for tonight. I'll be back around 9 a.m." Waiting until he had settled down, I went home to bed. At 8 a.m. the telephone rang. lt was Jim. "Harry, come round". I again dressed and went round. At the door was Jim, dressed with case at his feet. He looked awful. "Drive me home", he requested. I said, "Jim the, doctor's coming at nine". "No," said Jim. "Home". 
He was a strong character and there were times you could not argue with him. "Right", I said, "but only after I telephone your wife to have your own doctor standing by when we get there". He agreed and I rang Mrs. Boag. "That is typical of him", she said. I had not quite stressed how ill he was in case it unduly worried her.

Well, it was the worst journey of my life. Jim lay on the back seat groaning and moaning. If I drove fast he groaned loudly. If I slowed down, he said "Hurry, Hurry". Was I glad to see Greenock and help him into the house for I actually thought he was going to die en‑route. I heard later he had double pneumonia.

He did send Lottie and I a lovely silver topped crystal sugar sifter for all his bother to us

When a firm merges with another there is a period, called rationalisation, where all sorts of jobs are no longer doubled by personnel from both partners. Now the reason for Scott’s’ going in with the Robertson’s, was that Scott’s' results were so poor annually that they must have envied the good results that the Robertson’s were enjoying, and a merger with rivals must have appealed to them, They probably realised that they would have to make the greater concession and one of them was that Lewis Robertson would become managing director and have the power to put right anything that was found wrong with the Scott’s' side of the business.

It became obvious that J.F.R.'s managers were taking over the managers posts while Scott’s managers were either sidestepped or made to take early retirement, I suppose I was lucky. I had worked both for J F Robertson and J K, Boag’s (a part of Scott’s) so I was safe from being made redundant or reduced in rank.

David Scott, one of the younger Scotts’ who was a CA, now found himself under Sandy Webster who was the CA for Robertson. Sandy saw young Scott as a potential danger and it was no surprise to those who knew him to find that Sandy Webster had made life so uncomfortable for David Scott that he soon left for fresh fields ‑ nice lad, too,

The Scotts’ did not like what was happening to their old stalwarts, managers and family, but Lewis, when needed, could be blunt and autocratic He knew what was needed to get the new half of the empire back on it's feet and they had to sit at board meetings and accept all sorts of measures which must have hit tender spots which reflected on their previous management skills.

Now the Scotts’ still had a family board which controlled Scott interests in other fields. This was Mid Wynd Holdings and all, the Scott uncles and cousins and Jim Boag were on this board.

Jim Boag told me the following story while in an expansive mood when he visited me. He said that at a Mid Wynd Holdings board meeting, the Scotts’ were getting on about the way Lewis Robertson was forcing his ideas over them, and his superior, autocratic manner which riled them. Jim Boag said "Why do you put up with it then"" They said "What can we do?"
Jim replied "if you really want rid of him, leave it to me". They agreed it would suit them well and so Jim set about the deed that would rock the trade. Lewis, himself, helped to bring his own downfall.

After Jack, his father, died Lewis decided to sell his father's shares in the business. He carefully sold blocks to what is known as institutions, not realising Jim Boag had contacts that, in turn, offered a good price to the institutions to get his hands on them. So on one fateful day, a shock ran through all departments.

Lewis had arrived as usual one morning for a board meeting to be held at 10 a m. The board sat round the table and it was announced to Lewis that, as the Scotts’ now had a larger holding of shares than he had, he had one hour to pick up his papers and clear his office. By 11 a.m. he was out. The firm his father, and then he, had ‑so skilfully built up over many years was no more. That may be big business, but I cannot say I liked it one little bit 
For me, things were going to change dramatically in a very short time. I still have the letter Lewis sent to his former colleagues, regretting his going and wishing us well. He was a gentleman.
When Ian Coates of Guthrie industries suggested to the board that a wool system would be to their mutual advantage, Templeton was already a customer for semi-​worsted and if we had wool type yarn as well, he would have a supplier who sold at advantageous rates to him. It was agreed.

David White, the director in charge of all machinery at S & R, and I went off to see the Duesberg Bosson Equipment at Vervier in Belgium and then we went to see the machinery under working conditions at Angouleme in the Champagne district of France, The mill there gave it glowing reports and on reporting back to the board we ordered a full wool set from blending to spinning. This meant taking up our option of the 50,000 sq.ft, at the other end of our building. It only meant knocking a door through and so had a full 100,000 sq.ft mill. It meant some reconstruction of piping to bins, but that was really no problem.

It was not foreseen that, if Coates pulled out, as he later did, there was no guarantee that Templeton would keep on buying from us. And so we often had light weight yarn running that was not so profitable and further, our sales force were not used to wool yarns and were slightly anti‑woollen.

SANDY WEBSTER & THE BEES

At Glenrothes, in addition to our 100,000 sq.ft. or work area, the offices, canteen, first aid room and toilets formed a square A nice square of grass with a circular rose bed was enclosed.

As a beekeeper in my Blairgowrie days, I decided to keep three skips of bees in this pleasant square. They do not need any real looking after, except to keep an eve open for queen cells, and removal of full combs of honey and replacement with empty ones.

On a sunny day at lunchtime, it was good to be on the grass and listen to the steady droning of the bees. Occasionally we had a swarming. The girls would rush through to my office. ‑ "Mr. Duffus, the bees are swarming", because they had a nice view from their windows, which they quickly closed, although I assured them swarming bees do not sting. Usually the bees would hang on to the rose bush in a ball and be easily collected simply by having a carton ready below and cutting the branch and letting them fall gently into the box. I would put them back. Later after the Sun went down, I believe the girls enjoyed the excitement.

One day we had a visit from Sandy Webster who, on looking out the general office window, saw the beehives. "I've always wanted to keep a hive of bees at my place at West Ferry Could you teach me to handle them""

"Of course," I replied. "Wait until lunchtime and I’ll show you".

Conditions were ideal, the sun was shining, the bees were quietly coming and going brining in the honey and pollen and setting off again.

I lit my smoker which is the traditional way of keeping the bees down in the lower quarters of the hive while you steal their honey. It is supposed they go down at a whiff of smoke, thinking their home is on fire and they go to collect honey ready, for a quick removal.

Telling Sandy not to get too close, I lifted the lid off and puffed the smoke inside. The hive comes down in sections and so I demonstrated the top section and then I went to take out the first of the brood chambers. I looked around, there was Sandy flailing his arms and at the same time trying to get a bee out of his hair. Maybe it was all the arm swinging, but a cloud of bees advanced on Sandy and he took off. back through the office bees stinging him all the time.

Later I calmed him down and looked for the cause ‑ after all, not one attacked me. I found it He was wearing very strong hair oil, really pungent, and bees do not like strange strong smells, hence the attack. Sandy never again asked for a lesson and never did keep bees.
H. B. PIRIE 
MAY 1971

After Lewis Robertson was out‑shared, it became obvious that there had been a reason for bringing Ken Huskinson up from London to be his assistant; He had been long enough in this position to step in. Huskinson had run a small firm in the south of England which had been taken over by Boag’s and closed down. The only thing worth keeping, according to Jim Boag, was Huskinson. It may have also been to capture his customers He was stationed in London, where he and John Cable had become friendly

At some point while Jim Boag was acquiring shares, the board insisted that Lewis had to take an assistant. This was fairly easy for Lewis had a lot of other interests and was out a lot. One of his many interests was as the chairman of the Hospital Board, who were building Ninewells new hospital. I believe the initial estimate was a cost of seven million which rose over the years to about 27/30 million.

It was a time consuming task. Huskinson was a Boag man and therefore Scott orientated and the scheming was now apparent.

When Coates of Guthrie demanded to either let him buy 100% of Tay Spinners or buy the Guthrie Groups' 37.5%, it was decided, wisely or not, to take over the 100%, and so S. & R. were now the owner of the wholly owned subsidiary

The future of Glenrothes must have come under considerable scrutiny, for on, 25th May 1971, the letter copied herewith, shows A. C. Webster, as now deputy chairman and still secretary, would act as chief executive for Tay Spinner's and be responsible to Burton Pirie for the day to day management of Glenrothes. That was the danger warning flag for me, because before I answered only to a joint board, but now I would be under Sandy Webster who, from previous experience, could be really obnoxious

When I think of him, at the time we had petty pilfering at M. & C. Hills, Sandy thought it had to be the new office boy and actually had him by the throat, trying to make him confess, until he was dragged off. Later, by police powder method, the culprit was found to be a young member of the test laboratory. I wonder if Sandy ever apologised to the office boy.

So, this was the hot‑head to whom, for the first time, I was answerable. 
After Lewis got his one hour to pack up and leave, the managers in the firm who were previously Robertson men were, of course, concerned. They had replaced Scott men. Would they now, in turn, be made redundant, retired or just sacked? My old colleague, Albert Ireland, retired and there were a few moved sideways, if I remember correctly, but it was interesting to find that while we all expected Raymond Scott to take over as chairman, this did not happen Instead, it may have been that it would have looked really bad to find the top man sacked to slip into his job; Burton Pirie was invited to be the chairman.

I felt sorry for H.B.P., who was one of nature's real gentlemen, thrown into the deep end of the knife-stabbing, cut‑throat business of textiles, among young directors (the supposedly 'big four' who would have cut a mans, throat to achieve their ambitions) and he was supposed to control them.

Copy letter referred to above

25 May 1971

TAY SPINNERS

Management Responsibilities

Pending a decision regarding the future relationship and organisation of Tay Spinners within the group, the company will continue to be run by its present board of directors. Mr. A.C. Webster, the deputy chairman and secretary, will act as chief executive of the company and responsible to me, the chairman, through the board, for the day to day management of the affairs of the company.

Mr. A. C, Webster will liaise closely with Mr. K. S. Huskinson and will keep him closely informed of all developments concerning the mill, and execute any directions given by the latter particularly in regard to sales policy.

H. B. Pirie

Distribution:



ACW


JRS


KSH


DMW


HBD


BWMJ



RHES


HBP

THE OUSTING OF H. B. DUFFUS 
JUNE 1971

Only one month after A. C. Webster was appointed responsible for the overall management of Tay Spinners Glenrothes, a further letter straight out of the blue, i.e. I had no advance warning, letter or meeting, telling me what was, likely to happen, arrived on my desk, viz. “Mr. A. C.. Webster now assumes full responsibility as director in charge of all operations at 6lenrothes, while H. B. Duffus, from 16th June, becomes a special director of Tay Textiles at Dundee, to move and work at Dundee, presumably after a short hand‑over time.”
I was enraged at this shabby treatment and requested an interview with K. Huskinson, the managing director, to put my opinion of this unforgiveable way to run a business

I was even more astonished at what I was told, It appeared that A. C. Webster was (being a Robertson man) obstructing a new system of accounting which the new board were trying to install. Knowing that he had always wanted to run a factory or mill, offered him control of Glenrothes, a position he evidently jumped at.

"Where does this leave me?" I enquired. "Don't worry," I was told, 'Webster will only be there for six months and then we'll be shot of him".

I could not believe my ears. I was then led to believe that I would be going back to Glenrothes, so therefore hold on to my house.

I was still in a quandary, should I tell Webster whom, I did not particularly like, what he was in for? I decided to wait a little and see how things went,

On his first visit to Glenrothes he called all the staff to the general office and announced he was now in charge and "Here to see all you buggars work". The men were hurt and the girls horrified at this unnecessary swear word. I just knew things would not go well. You need happy staff and what a way to start off.
Copy of further letter from Main board
21 June 1971

TAY SPINNERS LIMITED

Notice to Staff and Employees

I wish to inform you regarding recent developments in connection with your company.

Consequent on the policy of the Scott & Robertson Group to support those units in our organisation whose future prospects are promising, we have recently bought the minority interest which was formerly owned by Guthrie Industries Limited. Tay Spinners, as a result, is now a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

In recent, months a considerable investment has been made in equipping the mill with an additional system of the most modern plant available and this, as you know, is now coming into production. I am confident that this policy will in due course enable us to make further investments in developing our productive capacity and efficiency.

In regard to management, Mr A. C. Webster now assumes full responsibility as the director in charge of all operations concerned with the business. Mr. H. B. Duffus has been appointed, as from 16 June, a special director of the board of Tay Textiles Limited with responsibilities to the Group as a whole for research and development. He will consequently withdraw as general manager of Tay Spinners at an early date which is not yet finally fixed. However, this change in management is now taking place and will be completed not later than the end of July. Mr. Duffus, who has had a long connection with your mill from its commencement, has been instrumental in its development and we are greatly indebted to him for his enterprise and his devotion to its success. He will continue to be closely connected with the mill in developing its technical potentialities.

The future prospect for Tay Spinners is bright and working together as a team, I am confident that we will continue to hold a leading position in the industry in which we serve.

H. B. Pirie

Chairman

Distribution:

Main Board Directors


Tay Textiles Directors

Before I tell of some of the stupid things he did, I can tell you, he lasted exactly six months, almost to the day, I often wonder if he had done well if K H would still have dismissed him, but he certainly started the rot that would close the mill three years later.

I have said I was to stay a few weeks at Glenrothes until Sandy Webster found his feet, I asked KM if I could leave after only two, as Sandy took no advice from me whatsoever, I even found out he was telephoning our rivals, Richards limited, in Aberdeen for information rather than ask me.

He started immediately to alter things after a brief look round. He decided the bale warehouse was a stupid waste of space. I said it was needed as fibre bales needed to be stored neatly and kept dry. No, he decided he would store all bales outside, after he bought light weight covers, similar to lorry covers with eyeholes in the corners. He would cover up the bales and drive pegs into the ample courtyard space at the back of the mill, and peg down the covers. I argued to no avail. He spent a few hundred pounds on covers and he proudly surveyed the great mounds of covered bales after the forklift had brought them outside. Mind you, in some ways he was unlucky for that very weekend we had a mighty wind storm which lifted the covers like kites and they took off and were never seen again. Worse still, however, much worse; torrential rain followed. It poured all weekend.

When he came in on Monday morning he sent for me ‑ what did I think? I told him that every bale would need drying out before use

"Never", he said. "Well, if you don't the yarn will run badly and will make loads of slubs in the yarn and the cards will give trouble, but it's up to you".

He decided not to dry the fibre out and the slubs were everywhere, and worse they stuck in the eyes of the customer's needles. The complaints rolled in.

Now he took my earlier advice and approached Watson, the dyer, who advised dyeing and drying out the coloured fibre. This cost a lot of money which reflected in our profit margins.

The next idea he had was that no longer would any 'seconds' be used in customers' orders. Now 'seconds’ are not bad fibres as you might expect, For example, viscose manufacturer‑, might downgrade fibre because the crimps per inch were slightly lower than their normal batches and I had good contacts who offered me these seconds cheap and which I slipped away a little at a time, thus making good profits. The fibre must have been O. K. in the final form because in all my years I never had a complaint. But Sandy, with his inexperience, said 'no more seconds'.

Even further, in my time we saved all left over sliver by colours and built a section against the wall, all reds to one square, all blues to another and so on. This way we wasted nothing and got the full price “No more waste”, said. Sandy (more loss of revenue, alas!)

When the wool system was being installed for expansion into making wool ​type yarns, two very large storage bins were needed. I said to Sandy Webster these should be constructed of brick and smoothly faced, I was ignored and he went ahead with bins made of a light wooden framework and 8 ft. x 6 ft. hardboard sheets. These were so large that they went as high as the roof and inside them were rotating blender heads that moved back and forwards layering the coloured fibre which came from the mixing hoppers

A large mobile emptier entered the bin to empty it in downward motion, similar to cutting cheese. This ensured a perfect blend from the Duesberg‑Bosson system.

When the erection was finished it tested out most successfully and Sandy was highly pleased until he heard we were to have the fire brigade round for an annual inspection. He got a hold of me. “You may be right about the bins. Can you get me a scale model made about 3 ft. long 3 ft, high and fill it with fibre and we'll test it?"

I got the model made and filled it with Viscose, the most highly inflammable, so it would be a true test.

Setting it up in the yard I sent for Sandy. He came and lit a match. Never had anyone jumped back so quick. The whole thing went up in a puff of smoke and flame and demolished fibre, walls, the lot. Sandy left the scene dejected.

Now he wanted to know what to do. He was in a spot. If he knocked the whole lot down, production would be held up and Dundee would know of his shortcuts. He decided to line the bins with plasterboard that did not burn like normal hardboard. He was lucky ‑ the. bin emptier would just get in without scraping the sides. In his brief reign of six months, production fell, complaints rolled in and it was no wonder that he was sent for on a fateful day. I was in Dundee most of the six months, except for visits to 'help', and word reached me that Sandy was on the carpet.

From a window, I saw him leave a dejected and, in some ways, an irate figure, I was sent for too. This is it, I'm back running what I always considered my mill. But it was not to be ‑ K Huskinson, a sneaky type of managing director who had no presence and was a shadow of Lewis Robertson, said "sit down, Harry. Mr. Webster has just resigned and left the firm and we would like you to go back immediately and take over ‑ for a short, temporary period. You see we, the new board, would like our new younger team to run all the branches of the firm and Mr Speirs has persuaded me that it is silly to have two spinning directors, so he will take over Glenrothes shortly and you can stay until he has found his feet". (He was jute spinning director with no experience of synthetics).

On returning home to Glenrothes to tell Lottie the news I said I would give the place two years and it would close. I was very near the mark, Lottie wanted me to quit then, but a job's a job and I would look around and move if and when I found the correct opportunity. I knew Hendry Speirs would not measure up. For one thing, he was all talk and he always needed a crutch In other words he chose some, good lad to keep him right. At Dundee it was Ian Duffus, a time study student and a very good lad (no relation) who actually walked about with H.M.S. nearly every time he entered the lute mill. He was not allowed over to Glenrothes, at least at the start.

The big four were now all on the working board, not the main board. John Cable was running the weaving, having been brought up from London. He took over from Tony Carina who was trying to get the polypropylene weaving working correctly and being a development man, was not too good at keeping delivery promises. K. H.'s pal from the London office was and so he superseded Tony who was moved sideways back into development.

Jim Gardner was director over all the sales force and was now up in Dundee while his assistant in the Manchester office, David Smith, ran that office.

Bob Simpson was still at head office and still scheming to make the main board, I think it was Bob Simpson who gave H.M.S. some of his big ideas. For instance, running the beautiful new mill at Glenrothes went to his head. Bob agreed with this idea. He should now travel from Dundee daily driven by chauffeur, while he was in the back dictating to his secretary. With encouragement like this it was no surprise to find some of the ‘improvements’ he made. He decided to build new offices at the wool system end of the mill to house extra staff Instead of one manager, he would appoint an assistant manager. Willie Pearson applied for, and got, the job (he would be sorry). New posts sprung up everywhere, we now had an engineering manager plus a foreman mechanic (Willie Gillegan), a charge-hand mechanic for each shift, extra electricians, in quality control John Isles now had three girls ‑ the increases were endless, I worked out roughly that salaries would be increased by about £40,000 a year at a time production was either stagnant or lowering. The new office manager (Gordon Nichol) had now six girls under him while in the mill each foreman now had a charge-hand, Was it surprising we were not showing a good return on capital?
Nevertheless, if a certain politician could put out a paper on his first 100 days then H.M.S. could also do so. To a lot of amusement from the rest of the staff, H M.S presented to the main board a paper on his first 100 days.

HARROGATE CARPET FAIR

Every September the carpet companies held an annual fair at Harrogate where all the new colours and carpet ranges were on display I used to make up coloured yarn mixtures and hoped to interest buyers in their further development to promote sales.

I still pride myself on being the first yarn producer of 50 denier fibre, suitable for the tufted trade. It took me nearly a year of experimenting to get the right additive to make such a coarse fibre work.

I was also in the trials with Dr, Sam Stevens of Marshal & Brush, the first to produce a polypropylene yarn from flat film, scratched into a network before carding. It was very effective and cheaper than the patented round fibre cross‑ sectional type.
After H. M. Speirs took over, I was available to take him to Harrogate and show him what we should be looking for, any new ideas of others to copy or promote our own.

We arrived at the huge display hall which houses the annual event when H.M.S. Saw this he was impressed. He stopped and requested me to go to the information desk and put out on the tannoy system a call for Mr Hendry Speirs of Tay Textiles to come to the information desk as soon as possible. That way, he said, everyone there would know he was in the hall I told him to “get lost”.
That was typical of H.M.S.

Under my management, strikes were unknown. This does not mean we did not clash with Unions or shop stewards, especially at what the workers thought of as an annual raise.
My method of approach to negotiation was this: 
If they wanted, say, a 4% increase and our top offer I knew in advance from head office was 3%, 1 would offer them 2%, half the amount needed. They usually refused and came back to tell me so I would then use my hidden faces routine; I would need to go back to the board and see if I could raise the offer. Of course, I did not go near the board, but sent for Unions a day or two later and offered 2.5%. There would be a lot of discussion round the table with Union and shop stewards – they wanted more, I then asked if I went back to the board, mind I wasn't promising anything, but if I could get them up to 3% would they accept. Yes, all agreed. So I told the board then we had settled the matter at 3%, the figure they wanted me to fix. It was a proven method and I got away with it every year,

But, under Hendry it was a different matter. I was not there at wage review time. He handled things his way and what a mess he made of it. If the workers asked 4% he would telephone Dundee immediately. The board would say try and get away with 3% ‑ Hendry offered 3% ‑ “no way” they said. So now Hendry made the greatest mistake ever, at least in my opinion. He suggested to the chairman that he should bring them over to Dundee to meet him so that he could see the kind of people he, Hendry, had to deal with.

They were now going straight to the top of the tree in one go. And so he laid it on.

Now, imagine the Union and shop stewards gathering in our palatial board room with ankle keep carpets and glaring signs of opulence, being told Glenrothes was not making money and could only afford 3%. They did not believe it and so got their 4%, BUT never again would the man in charge of Glenrothes be able to settle. They would demand discussions in Dundee with the decision makers.

Of course, the rough and ready ex‑miners, whom I got along well with, were put down as trouble makers and extremists and poor Hendry was said to be having a tough time with them. Poor Soul!
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Attached Operating Statement

for

Period 7 in January 1971

This was toward the end of H. B. Duffus's reign and shows, clearly budgets were being within a whisker of being met. They could vary a little depending on the 'count' or weight per spindle of yarn made.

If polyester was being spun speeds had to be reduced and it was always my policy to keep it to a minimum to balance production. 
Tay Spinners Limited

Operating Statement for period 7 ending 15th Jan 1971
	
	Current

6.2 weeks
	
	
	
	Year to Date
	
	
	

	
	Actual
	
	Budget
	
	Actual
	
	Budget
	

	
	d/lb
	£
	d/lb
	£
	d/lb
	£
	d/lb
	£

	Sales value of Production
	53.61
	176742
	53.61
	161947
	51.93
	1170234
	51.92
	196488

	Material Usage
	39.92
	131616
	41.10
	124156
	38.81
	874504
	393.41
	908183

	Gross conversion Margin
	13.69
	45126
	12.51
	67791
	13.12.
	295730
	12.51
	288305

	Labour
	6.15
	20256
	4.85
	14647
	5.41
	122003
	4.73
	109105

	Manufacturing Exps
	6.61
	21802
	6.49
	19598
	5.85
	131716
	5.64
	129917

	Manufacturing 
Profit/Loss
	0.93
	3068
	1.17
	3546
	1.86
	42011
	2.14
	49283

	Sundry Revenue
	
	1284
	
	1169
	
	8414
	
	7850

	
	
	4352
	
	4715
	
	50425
	
	57133

	Fixed Expenses
	
	3535
	
	4496
	
	25722
	
	31453

	Profit (Loss) Before tax
	
	817
	
	219
	
	24703
	
	25680


	Production
	
	
	
	

	lbs
	791,192
	725,000
	5,408,011
	5,531,000

	Budget
	109
	
	98
	

	Average Yarn Count
	15.84
	
	16.05
	


NOVEMBER 1971

To keep the new directors of Tay Spinners in the picture about fibre suppliers I made up the accompanying list of supplier’s and Trade names.
Grange Works

Viewfield Estate

Fife

K.S. Huskinson, Esq.

Managing Director

Park Mill


29th November 19j

SUPPLIER 


U.K. AGENT

FIBRE TRADE NAME
COMMENTS

Syenska Rayon Aktiebolaget
Peter Boeg Thomson
SWLEAN
good fibre 
VAL


Glasgow

usually supplied 

Sweden




as spun dyed

Sateri Osaleyhtŏ
Alan Redman
FIBRAFINN
good fibre, gives


Valkeakoski Vlk
16 Chesterfield

little trouble

Finland

Road South



Mansfield Notts

Chemiefaser Lenzing
William Williamson
TAPIFLPOR VISCOSE
super crimp grade

Aktiengesell Schaft
(Kirkcaldy) Ltd.

(SUPER CRIMP)
quite satisfactory

LANZING
P.O. Box 14


and available in

Austria
Kirkcaldy


smaller lots spun dried


jes.

Borregaard Marketing
Branch Office
B0RREGAARD
soft fibre, probably the

Company Limited
St. George’s House


poorest of the fibres.

Nor   House
7 St. George's Square


can give trouble in 
21-27 Cockspur Street
Huddersfield HD1 1LA


processing
LONDON S.W. 1
Yorkshire



CONTINENTAL WHITE VISCOSE POSITION AS AT 22/11/71

Stock
225.813 lbs.
Usage approx. 49,000 Los. per week

Afloat:
205,000 lbs

43O,813 Ibs.‑
8 weeks supply w/e 21st January 1972

Less orders


placed:
172,813 lbs.





258,000 lbs


5 weeks Supply unsold

We are estimating
a usage of 50,000 Ibs. per week for 1972.

Therefore 49 weeks at 50,000 = 2,450,000 lbs required


or
1,225,000 lbs for the first 6 months
Suggested breakdown to suppliers:
FIBRAFINN 
720,000 Ibs. @ 11.25p (27d) to be delivered at rate. of 120,000 lbs


per month. This order has been firmly secured and confirmed. We


have managed to raise our allocation from this supplier by 120,000 lbs


over the 6 months.

LENZING
500,000 lbs @ 11.25 p (27d) to be delivered in equal monthly


consignments. This our total allocation and although not confirmed



from Austria, we have assurance from the British Agent that this


will be our allocation from his supply this year.

BORREGAARD
50,000 lbs. We hoped to get this small quantity from Borregaard to


remain one of their customers so, in future, we would have the option


of more fibre if required. We believe he has now no offer for us but


this will be confirmed on Monday 29th November 1971.

CONTINENTAL SPUN DYED VISCOSE AS AT 22/11/71
Estimated. Usage of spun dyed fibre
40,000 lbs. weekly

Remaining 5 weeks to end of 1971
200,000 lbs.

For the six Months to end June 1972

25 x 40,000
1,000,000 lbs.

TOTAL 
    1,200,000 lbs.

On order and afloat at 22/11/71
   815,283 lbs 
Balance required
   384,717 lbs
Feb/March
   260,000 lbs
Still to order between April/June
    124,717 lbs
KINGFISHER/SAPPHIRE
MALLARD/ BLUE LAKE
Stock
30,318
21,088
24,265
29,428
Afloat
52,500
52,500
47,000
52,000


82,818
73.588
81,428

YELLOW/SAND


AEGEAN/GROTTO


Stock
98,614
74,000
73,400
73,276

Afloat
      NIL

37,000
37,000

98,614
74,000
110,400
110,276

Sales
75,000
70,000
113,650
113.650
Surplus
23,614
4,000




SILVERSTONE


FLORENTINE

Stock

Nil

        NIL

Afloat

34,344


39,275
Sales
26,250


39,275

Surplus

8,094


LOMBARD
Stock
  Nil  
Afloat
39,275


Sales
39,275

PRICES

	Kingfisher
	82,818 lbs
	@
	12.50p
	

	Sapphire
	75,588 lbs
	@
	12.50p
	

	Yellow
	98,614 lbs
	@
	12.50p
	

	Sand
	74,000 lbs
	@
	12.71p
	

	Mallard
	7.458 lbs
	@
	13.02p
	Viscolan

	
	63,807 lbs
	@
	12.92p
	Svenska

	
	
	
	
	

	Blue Lake
	14,2224 lbs
	@
	13.02p
	Viscolan

	
	67,204 lbs
	@
	13.13p
	Svenska

	
	
	
	
	

	Aegean
	57,340 lbs
	@
	12.29p
	Viscolan

	
	63,060 lbs
	@
	12.71p
	Svenska

	
	
	
	
	

	Grotto
	48,602 lbs
	@
	13.02p
	Voscolan

	
	61,614 lbs
	@
	13.38p
	Svenska

	
	
	
	
	

	Silverstone
	34,344 lbs
	@
	12.29p
	

	Florentine
	39,275 lbs
	@
	13.02p
	

	Lambard
	39.275 lbs
	@
	13.02p
	


Svenska will only cover for three (3) months ahead and we usually give them the lion’s share of spun dyed requirements.

ON ORDER
FEBRUARY 1972
130,000 lbs @ 12.92p


MARCH 1972
130,000 lbs @ 12.92p
FEBRUARY 1973

No matter what H.M.S. did he could not meet production targets and his losses monthly kept adding up.

About this time a kind of witch-hunt started. They were after a scapegoat and it looked as if the board were after me. Maybe I had been buying wrongly, I was tipped off by Alan Redman, agent for Sateri, that he had been asked to our Dundee Head Office and was heavily leaned on to say I had been paying higher prices for fibre than our competitors were, Alan Redman was able, not only to show I did not pay more than our opposition, but in fact because of quantity and my purchasing skill, bought lower. The hunt was called off. Hendrv would have to find another excuse for his short comings.

Even an extra shift put on to increase production as against my occasional weekend overtime, did not give the desired production. It was a novel idea - all Hendr's I think - to have workers work 12 hours Saturdav at time + half ( 18 hours) and all day Sunday 12 hours at double time ( 2.4 hours) This gave the shift a full week's work for only two days effort. He did not allow for the fly Fifers working Monday to Friday elsewhere and coming in fagged to work his two days - result, poor figures again,

THE STRANGE CASE OF NORMAN GRUBB

I have already explained how every one was demoralised. Especially Norman Grubb, the Manager when I was director in charge. We met for a few minutes each day and discussed the state of each order due out that day. Then he simply got on with his job of running the Mill. He was highly qualified for this, very able and I could not speak more highly of him. No so H M Speirs, He found fault, at every meeting. H M S did not know synthetic spinning and so he never understood that there were different production speeds for viscose, polypropylene, nylon and polyesters and so production would vary. But endless meetings with managers and foremen kept them away from overseeing and chasing production

Hendry came over from Dundee every morning by car and met me outside his office. He was agitated; "I'm over to sack Norman Grubb". I was horrified. He was the best and most knowledgeable man left in the Mill. "Don't try and persuade my otherwise, my mind's made up"

I went off to the general office in disgust. I met Charlie Burns who had come over with Hendry. He knew by my face, "He's told you about Norman?" "Yes", I replied. "He must be mad"

Well that was at 10 a m he told me, and I hung about with Charlie until 12 15 p.m. I could not settle to do anything. Neither could Charlie Burns.

At last H.M.S. and Norman came out both smiling. I said casually to Norman, "Hi, what's happening?" "Nothing," said Norman "I'm going out to dinner with Hendry and Jim Gardner tonight." That was typically Hendry.

One day Hendry asked if I could find him a teaser machine. One that could break down surplus cones after cutting, or tease and mix surplus and leftover sliver at the end of runs. I explained how I used up all surplus at full price but he preferred the place to look neat and tidy and not have cans of colour beside the hopper feeders, Well, I spoke to a friend in the waste trade, Boris Buckley, from Ashton‑Under‑Lyne, and he had two surplus machines. Hendry talked the board into taking over premises in downtown Glenrothes and install these two machines and hopper feeders to process all his waste. This meant men at hoppers at the front of the machines and a charge-hand to keep an eye on them. Our lorry needed to take waste down to them every day, an expensive business, and one which seemed to me to be making more material than the big mill made all to be sold at knock down prices to waste merchants to get rid of it. I am sure this turned out to be another white elephant and huge loss maker.

To give some idea of the amount of moving around I did after being deposed at Glenrothes, the following were taken from my 1972 pocket diary:


Visited Monsants Chemicals at Leceister


Visited Frankfurt Synthetic Expo for three days.

December 1971
Visited West Berlin for two days,

January 1972
Visited East Berlin to Karl Marxted with a view to


purchasing machinery returning via Hamburg

End Feb. 1972
Visited Brussels for two days

March 13 ‑ 15th
Course at Shirley Institute

March 28 ‑ 30th
Visited Belgium

April

Visited Abingdon Carpets, (Abingdon) then 
Kidderminster, Yorkshire and Wigan (Rivington)

April 20th
Visited Cumnock in Ayrshire.

May 1st ‑ 4th
Tour of Germany with Jim Gardner as Technical Adviser around 1500 miles by car.

Sept. 5 ‑ 7th
Visited Harrogate Carpet Fair

Nov. 8 ‑ 9 ‑ 1Oth
Visited Sligo. New nylon factory opening

Nov 21st ‑ 23rd
Visited Mulhoose in France, via Basel to inspect draw


frames recommended by Duessberg‑Bosson.

Dec. 19 ‑ 20th
Speaker at Bradford Symposium on Textiles

(arranged by J. Cable).

From the foregoing it can be seen I was away from Glenrothes and Dundee quite a lot in 1972. I used to worry about what was happening at "Grange" which I used to think of as 'my baby' but eventually gave that up as a lost cause. 
Hendry lasted from around December 19‑71 until April 1973 which was around 17 months of misrule. When the accompanying letter arrived at Glenrothes.

As from 2nd April 197‑31 John Cable would assume responsibility for administration and production planning to ensure objectives laid out in the 1973/74 budgets. In other words Hendry had to get out on the shop floor, while J.C. took over his office. Well, H.M.S.'s endless manager and foreman meetings would now stop and let them get on with the real job chasing production

It was foreseen that this would take six months until middle management was strengthened (0h no ‑ more staff!) Cable was still to be marketing director, his title at that time. Most of us knew Hendry was on his way out.

H.M.S. at this time lost his job, running the jute mills, this being given to Jim Gardner.

It can be seen we now had all the round pegs in square holes. Jim Gardner‑ , a Salesman, in charge of jute spinning, H. M. Speirs, Jute spinner, in charge of synthetic spinning, and John Cable, marketing, in charge, of Glenrothes Mill The end was getting closer,

23 March 1973

TO SENIOR STAFF

GRANGE WORKS

Our synthetic spinning operation at Grange continues to perform below the standard required and it is clear that the key to the difficulties lies in achieving the required levels of production. To allow Mr. Speirs to concentrate on this vital aspect together with the planning of the new projects, Mr Cable will, from 2 April, assume responsibility for administration at Grange and will additionally assist in production matters in order jointly to ensure that the ​objectives set out in the 1973/74 budget are attained. This is seen as a temporary assignment of not more than 6 months duration until such time as the middle management structure at Grange is re‑inforced. Mr. Cable will be retaining his present responsibilities, as Marketing Director.

Mr. Speirs will be relinquishing his responsibilities for the jute spinning mills and these will be assumed by Mr. James Gardner. This position will be further reviewed in approximately 6 months time.

K.S. Huskinson

Managing Director.

S. & R. Directors, T. T. Directors, S. D. O’s, TK. S, H. B. D, C. M. B, J. K. M, R. M, G. C, A. M. S.

MARCH 1973

Cable Pushes Speirs Out

 While Cable ran the office and issued threats to all and sundry, what would happen if production did not improve? It was obvious to me that Hendry was next to be given the order of the boot, for he, after all his hopeless schemes and increases in staffing, had really no hope of making either the budgeted production nor a profit So, when H.M.S. was summoned to head office, I am sure he feared the worse. He told me himself later that he had been given no option, but to go, He drove his Rover back from Dundee to Glenrothes, thinking what effect the sack would have on his family, with the girls at the High School he needed the good salary he had been enjoying. He admitted to me his mind was in a whirl when he rounded a corner to find a car passing another and leaving him no room. He ran up the side and overturned. He was in some state of distress. But, Hendry was a survivor ‑ through this he got a sympathy that we would not have received if the accident had not occurred, and he got his old job back running the jute mills at Hillbank and Dura. He was lucky.

Slowly he got his confidence back. He had avoided going to coffee but then he started going the odd time and as I said slowly started to win himself back in favour He always had a sliver tongue, and used it well.

John Cable was now the king pin, with J. Gardner a close second. No longer the Big Four - Bob Simpson had resigned when he decided that the board were ignoring him for promotion. Hendry was in disgrace after his poor handling of Grange Works at Glenrothes. There would be a fight to see who would get a seat on the main board Cable or Gardner, Who would stab the other in the back?

But these two were carrying on with their secretaries. I know they even had made a pact that they would not try and pinch the other's 'bit of stuff'. It was common knowledge throughout the firm from managers down, but not the main board, Until Burton Pirie, M.D. got it at a meeting of the trade, because jokes were being made about it. And he did not like it. Being a real gentleman he was horrified that his junior directors could behave in such a wav. He, of course, sent for them. None of us know what was said, but things quietened down for a little while, but it was still done on the quiet.

He would have been more than horrified if he had known that an earlier clerkess had left the firm pregnant after an affair with Jim Gardner ‑ but it could have been her husband's; Lindsay Tolland and ( M D ) actually followed J G one day and saw him arrive at her home while hubby was, working.

It seems that when you reach the age of 50 you have to prove yourself. This was Jim Gardner's theory anyway. When I was in Australia our agent there had another lad, related in some, way, who worked for him, and this younger man had a rather good looking wife, Now, Jim found out that her husband was playing around with one of her 'friends', so he made a pitch for the wife. Probably she suspected her husband anyway for she responded to his advances and one night while hubby was away, Jim bedded her It was easy, for he was staying with them at the time while I stayed with relations ‑ Dave and Lydia Turnbull, in the suburbs at Dandenong. Mind you, some one above must have been displeased because a gale blew and lifted part of the roof and torrential rain soaked the pair of them. At least that was his story to me, but he kept sending her flowers afterwards.
Now, during this trip he was senior director and I had to do what he wanted as my function was adviser if customers asked could we spin or weave some product they required I was on hand as technical adviser.

We had taken orders the first week and all seemed fairly rosy, but the second week orders started to be cancelled and there were hints that the Australian carpet industry was going into a decline.
Now when we left the U.K. we could not get enough fibre. Every one was so busy. George Scott had orders to snap up any 'parcels' on offer.

I suggested to Jim Gardner we should send a 'wire' to George Scott to go easy till we got back He showed he was my boss by adamantly refusing. On our last week in Australia I was worried. Everyone said the same thing; 'the bubble has burst'. I pleaded with Jim to advise the firm and George Scott in particular. The answer was still 'no'.

George, back home, was finding that the suppliers were now on to him instead of the other way round and he kept on buying.

I reckon that Jim Gardner's refusal to advise the firm cost us later up to half a million pounds. For when Grange closed, we had to sell the stock pile off at bargain prices for no one wanted the stuff as the recession was now on and they only bought if the price was low enough.

On the plane back I was asked not to mention the cut‑backs in Australia and that he would write the reports.

1974

Norman Grubb, the manager I had started after my promotion to director in charge, and of whom I thought the world, had, under Webster, Speirs and Cable, a belly-full. It was no longer a pleasure to work at Grange works and he of his own volition gave notice and left. I am pleased to say he got a managers job in Kirkcaldy without too much difficulty.

This gave J. Cable the opportunity to bring in Charlie Burns, chief time study office, to be manager. Charlie was very pleased. I think he always wanted to be manager of a large mill. Like me he was a special director for his special knowledge, his in time study procedures and mine in textiles of all types.

Charlie had one fault (among many); his answer to shortage of production was to speed all the machines up. However, initially I persuaded Cable that in synthetics there were speed constrictions and he listened to me, but I was not always there.

For instance, I was sent off to Australia with Jim Gardner on a sales drive for three week. On my arrival back in Glenrothes I entered the mill, I immediately knew the machines were all running faster. I looked to see what material was running. It was polyester, I sent for Charles. "Charles, you have a problem", I said. "Why?" "Because you have heat glazed the yarn." At the excess speed the metal travellers overheat and scorch the side of the yarn passing on to the yarn tube. The yarn was ruined, all to be classed as seconds and sold off cheaply and worse was to follow.

He had started the minute I was out the door to go to Australia and about eight creels, 24 tons, were lying ready in the warehouse; an estimated £60,000 worth was reduced considerably in value.

This was Just another nail in Glenrothes' coffin. Not surprising, Cable knew nothing of textiles, Burns was only time study and the only chap who would have spotted the fault was Norman Grubb and he had been driven out by harsh criticisms that were not his fault.

I went into the mill another day and said to Charlie “The card as you enter the mill is running slow, any reason?" "Slow"", he said, "Never". He sent for the mechanic. Yes, it was on half speed. The gear wheels were worn and the mechanic thought half speed was at least producing, until new gear wheels on order turned up. A reasonable reason, but not in Charlie's opinion. “Speed up immediately", he told the mechanic. It's at no. 5 speed now". So Jim turned it to 6 ‑ "How high does it go?" he asked “10", was the reply. "Right keep going". "But, it will burst". "Keep going". So, up it went to 9 when a big bang occurred and the, machine stopped. "Told you so," said the mechanic, and Charlie went of to see John Cable. I believe it was three days later before it ran again and, of course, production was down again.

Oh! these novices

A few days later the workers went on strike again, and Cable with his officiousness and blunt language, and now with Charlie to help, who could start a fight in an empty tearoom, it was inevitable the workers would walkout and they did.
I can still see Charlie running after them calling, "Please come back and talk it over", I was disgusted. The sands of time were. running out fast for GIenrothes.
It became obvious to me after the Webster debacle and the arrival of Hendry Speirs that my forecast of giving the place two years was very much on the cards. What to do about it?
I had not bought my house in Glenrothes at this time, but strangely enough Ken Huskinson had been suggesting strongly I should do so, as I was the only director who did not own their own home, Prices since selling Monifieth had moved away and I felt it was taking a risk, to buy. However, talking things over with Lottie, and how it could possibly happen that I would be made redundant if Glenrothes closed, she agreed we should buy a big house for two reasons; 1. My Dad was around 85 and would shortly need looking after, and 2. If I was dismissed or made redundant, she could open a big house to paving guests, something she always fancied and this would tide us over in times of difficulties.

After a good hunt around we settled on Leven, a largish house on the side of the 16th fairway of the Leven Golf Course, and we moved in during November 1973.

Alan did not want to move to Leven as he had carpet shops in Leslie and Glenrothes therefore suited him better. We went to see David Allen, a friend in the Toastmasters who was house factor for the New Town, to see if he would transfer the rent book over to Alan. I was surprised to get a blunt refusal. He couldn't do it regulations and all that. We came away slightly dejected for Alan's sake, but met John, another friend in the Toastmasters who was a chief architect and told him our, problem. His advice; "Don't go near David Allan, but go along to another office which I’ll point out and see if you can buy it over 25 years, through a building society. Well, that same day, after paying the £100 fee, the house was sold to me and immediately sold to Alan at £4,630. By selling it to me, we got the right price for a sitting tenant and so saved Alan quite a lot of money. The profit he made helped him to start up his motor-cycle business and get him out of carpets.
February 1973

Substantial Re‑equipping

After Ian Coates had given his ultimatum; let Guthrie Industries buy out the lot or buy his company's 37.5% holding, it was obvious our trade on behalf of Templeton would alter.

Our sales force found it difficult to sell wool‑type yarns, I don't know why, but we kept getting orders for yarns that really did not pay from other sources. In February 1973 decisions were reached which are enunciated on the attached letter.

In effect they would sell the woollen system and replace it with two complete semi‑worsted systems that would be the most up to date in the world. They were to be supplied and installed by Duesberg‑Bosson of Vervier in Belgium and David White, general manager of the group, and I had visited a lot of makers and found this company absolute tops. This would again make us leaders in the spinning trade.

You may find it hard to believe that the machines were only being erected, with only one spinning frame actually on running trials, when the Belgians were asked to stop, the mill was closing.
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September 19‑14

Grange Works, Glenrothes. Closes

The Duesberg‑Bosson mechanics were busily erecting the 2nd new semi‑worsted spinning frame, the first one was running under test when, I think it was Charlie Burns, went in the night we were closing for the autumn holiday and told them, "Pack, up your tools. The mill is closing" They said, "Monsieur, you are, of course, joking"?".

But no, it was for real. The machines that would have made the firm once again the first in Europe were not to be used at Glenrothes and after a period went on the market, just as the recession period hit Britain. Hopes of a good price for them were not good. Half had arrived and were still in their packing cases. This would never have been allowed to happen if Guthrie Industries had owned the company.

The work force were just as astonished, Oh, they had their strikes, avoidable if they had been handled correctly, but the mill could have been saved if staffing levels had been corrected and all the extra salaries cut off. The potential was still there but the decision on closure was final ‑ a really sad day for me.

The accompanying letter says it all

PRESS RELEASE

Tay Textiles Limited, a member of the Dundee‑based Scott & Robertson Group, announces with regret that its Grange Works, a synthetic fibre spinning mill at Glenrothes, will not reopen on 14 October after the autumn holiday week.

The high rate of inflation along with the steep rise in the cost of oil‑based raw material has meant that the Company can no longer justify the commitment of the mounting capital resources demanded by this unit, which has consistently made an inadequate return. In spite of the efforts made by management and employees together with major capital investment in new plant, Grange Works has had to be subsidised by the other sections of the Company over a long period. In the best interests of the Company's employees as a whole it would be improper to allow this to continue and thus prejudice the successful operations of these other sections. In face of the unpromising economic outlook and a contraction of the floor covering markets both at home and abroad the decision to close at an early date has become unavoidable.

About 170 men and 80 women employees are affected and consultation with the Transport and General Workers Union and with the Department of Employment is taking place with the object of finding alternative employment. The future of staff members is also under urgent consideration.

Grange Works was opened in 1965 as Tay Spinners and spins various types, of synthetic fibre into face yarns for use in the Carpet Industry.

3 _September 1974

1975

Sale of Grange Stocks

I already said that George Scott had stockpiled, quite correctly, for no one had told him to ease back, so when the sudden decision came to close, the warehouse was crammed full and orders for raw material still to come in from abroad.

J. R. Scott was the director given the task and I will never understand the thinking behind many of the decisions. For instance, we had a full order book for months ahead when we shut down. Would it not have been sensible to run down the stocks, getting full price for the fibre than to sell it at rock bottom bargain prices, causing huge losses?

I understand we had an offer for the mill premises, a generous figure (from Jim Kemp (of K. & L. Packers), if we could vacate by a certain date. It was refused. Machinery had to be sold off cheaply ‑ some still in its boxes.

It was one disaster after another and I had the caretaker's lob to see the mill emptied

No one will know how I felt, as slowly it went back to an empty shell. 
Cable Gets His Come‑uppance

There came a day when a seat on the main board became available.

Bob Shepherd had gone, having been passed over, Jim Gardener had been moved back to Manchester, much to his disgust. Hendry Speirs was no longer the dynamic member he once was after his poor performance in Glenrothes, Only John Cable was left as a contender, with no opposition that he could foresee. Now, we who were not in the inner circle were amazed when we heard that Cable had resigned and gone, immediately after the board meeting, the one he expected to get promotion to be the one to achieve main board status.

As I say, we never got the full story, but it was rumoured that Ken Huskinson put forward Cable's name for a place on the board and so unpopular was Cable, he could not get a seconder. I do believe that must have been the case, which left Cable no option but to resign, which he did. He was a nasty piece of work and I shed no tears for him. 
In my young days I was a practical joker but gave up (at least for years) after I pulled one on Lottie’s sister Jess which backfired.
In our Perth Road house, when the children were little, I fitted up speakers in their bedroom which was controlled from the wireless in our lounge, This was so that they could have music at bedtime at a modest level of noise, I discovered however, that my Putting the wavebank off station, I could go upstairs and speak into the speakers which would come across with me making announcements The kids liked this.

However, Lottie's sister, Jess, came along about once a week and was unaware of my trick with the speakers. After she had overstayed a bit one evening, I switched the wireless to a no‑station bank, crept upstairs and made the following announcement: 
"Would Mrs. Jess Chalmers, please return home as her daughter Thelma has swallowed the three‑penny from her dumpling"!

It wasn't even Thelma's birthday, but Jess fainted. It needed a glass of brandy to revive her and I got 'hell' from Lottie.

It was years later I started lampooning stuffiness in business, this was after I saw my 'baby' slowly and surely going to the wall at Glenrothes and I drew my first cartoon, that was the start of my return to practical jokes

The story behind the cartoons

Things had not gone well for H. M. Speirs. Despite increased office staff, a manager and an assistant manager, and extra hands on the shop floor, production had actually stagnated or fallen.

As mentioned previously, he tried something unique. He put on a Saturday and Sunday shift. At time and a half for Saturday and double time for Sunday, This, although expensive, added up to a full week's hours

One snag, he did not allow for, his weekend workers, working elsewhere all, week and coming to work absolutely fagged out and so production levels remained shocking. Hendry was sent for repeatedly to push for more production. Alas without results

The cartoon was produced after he had announced to the board his master plan to put on this new untried shift idea.
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The Case of the Lonely Typist

Another case of head office procedures, was the idea of a receptionist-cum typist as you entered the door of Hillbank, the same as at Park Mill, but there were two girls there, in a very large spacious area,

The poor girl at Hillbank was Isobel, a nice lass, who really felt out of it and was dependent on some of us giving her typing, She needed some one to talk to so everyone ran the gauntlet of being waylaid into a talking session as they entered

The cartoon No. 3 speaks for itself and was appreciated by everyone, other than Isobel.
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Cartoon No. 4

There was a time when young managers were to be made redundant, I had only about two and a half to three years to go before retirement. I had been telling Jim Bell I had intended to take early retirement if they would let me (hoping, of course, for a golden handshake ‑ I should have known better).

This cartoon arrived on my desk, obviously from Jim Bell. He was always good for a laugh and a Joke, and we often played them on each other.
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Cartoon No. 5

Jim Bell, development engineer, was sent off on a course to Birmingham and took a lot of ribbing about how he had to speak at least four languages to go there.

We, personally, had been there and noticed "DO NOT CLEAN MACHINERY IN MOTION' in four languages, so the kidology was not far wrong.

Jim was also noted for his use of swear words, so the F.O. on the blackboard did not stand for Foreign Office
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Cartoon No. 6

It became a standing joke to hear H.M.S. telling Ernie Allan to hop on a plane to get a spare which was needed to get a machine back in action. He never flew once, that I recall, but hardly a week passed without H.M.S. saying the famous words "Hop on a plane, Ernie". Even the workers, every time a machine had a stoppage, gave Ernie the famous phrase. Such big idea was so typical of H.M. Speirs, but, of course, never came to anything.
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Cartoon No. 7

This one came out from an outside source as one after the other of the Big Four were forced out, squeezed out, or demoted

Only H.M.S. the great survivor was left, even if he was in a battered state.

Yes, unfortunately, there were a lot of nights of the long knives, and I certainly, had a few in my back.
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Cartoon No. 8

Each year the works managers were invited to a meal laid on by the directors, a fairly scrumptious affair

Meanwhile, the same day the board had an even more sumptuous affair in the board room.

As the cartoon expresses, there were two exceptions, Charlie Burns and me, who on the official notepaper were special directors, at least. Despite the cartoon, we were left out every year. How could it happen? 
Your guess is as good as mine.
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1980 Cartoon No. 9

George. King came as a manager from our rivals in Aberdeen. The dirtiest job in the mill is the 'stoor-man',

The man that acts as a scaffie round the machines and collects the dust, which is later fed through a 'shaker' to collect any good fibre for re-processing. He really gets filthy dirty and dust covered

H.M.S. was, at the reception area, when a scruffy wee man came up for a job in the dust-house. He was obviously the right man for the job and George King, who had no one wanting the Job, seized him to start the next day.

In the coffee room at coffee break, Hendry went on and on at long lengths about people coming to his mill should at least make a neat and tidy appearance if they wanted a job at Hillbank and George King got stick for starting the scruffy wee man. This sketch on Hillbank notice board took some of the starch out of the situation.
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The Strange Case of Willie Pearson

Staff demoralisation had set in. After my reign for seven years with no industrial or staff problems, a happy atmosphere was now in tatters.

Starting with A.C. Webster (Sandy) who on his, first day announced that he was not here to work, but to see 'all you buggers do'. Well, he lasted six months and went out on his ear. The 'Hendry Speirs' era, with his high sounding words but no actions, but who had endless meetings lasting hours in which managers and foremen were in his room listening to his tales, and anecdotes of how good he was while no work was being done on the shop floor. Both Norman Grubb the manager and Will Pearson, the chief clerk, promoted to assistant manager, were at the end of their tether.

Willie Pearson broke first He told me he was applying for jobs and I really could not blame him, He got an interview and was, offered a job with Wm. Williamson, Flax Merchants of Kirkcaldy. But John Williamson, whom we knew through business, was a real gentleman who said Willie could have the job, but only if John could tell Scott A Robertson he wanted one of their men and that they agreed to release him. Well, John Williamson was horrified to be told by Pirie of S. & R. that if he went ahead and took their man he would never get a penny of business again. John therefore told Willie he was sorry, but under the circumstances, he could not start him.

Now comes something, which at the time seemed strange. I was now working in Dundee and John Cable, the nasty piece of work, sent for me. He talked generalities for a bit and then enquired "Are you happy working here?"

I replied, "Not very". I had, after all, had some pretty awful treatment, especially from him. He then went on about the wonderful opportunities still open to me as head of development, etc. etc. We went back to trivialities and the meeting was over.

I puzzled over what it was all about. I could see no reason for sending for me, especially to ask if I was happy in my work.

Meanwhile in Glenrothes, Willie finally broke and handed in his notice with no job to go to. He preferred unemployment and peace of mind to Hendry's endless meetings and threats. After one month's unemployment, John Williamson gave him the job earlier advertised,

Then it came out ‑ John Williamson had telephoned Dundee and said he would like one of Tay Textiles' men, without naming him. The penny dropped and everything fell into place; they thought it was me that had been after another job not Willie, so that was why Cable was trying the butter‑me‑up treatment.

Jim McGregor, Raw Jute Buyer

Jim and I got on really well, but one thing that really annoyed him was when he heard I was to get a 25 year service watch.

He reckoned I had broken my service when I worked for Boag and then rejoined S. & R. I suppose technically he was right. There were a few weeks before Boag, that is Scott & Robertson, actually signed the papers, but I had been about 40 years between the two of them and reckoned I deserved my gold watch. He nagged on every coffee break and we accused him of jealousy. 
I had a broken Minnie Mouse watch that my grand‑daughter was throwing out. So, putting it in a nice box and parcelling it up, put an Indian stamp on it from my stamp collection, and enclosed a letter to Jim purporting to come from his old colleagues in India, It read:

“Dear Sahib,

We have heard from Captain of Jute Liner of most unfair treatment you have suffered from bad employer. We have passed the turban round office and so we ask, even pray, you will accept token of our affection. "Watch it".

We hope you find Jute we send you of sublime quality. Greetings.

Mohammed Ali & Colleagues.”

 Jim was a lot nicer at the following coffee breaks.

Jim MacGregor & the Ruby Ring.

Jim MacGregor tried to put one over on me. The Managing Director sent for Jim to tell him a wealthy millionaire Indian jute grower was coming and wished to see round the mill. Jim gave him a lame excuse about having an arbitration to do, on a raw jute complaint. He was on a panel that did this. It was a lie but he convinced K.H that I was more suited than anyone to do the honours to our visitor. Maybe it was just as well, Jim after his Indian experience still thought all coloured gentlemen as WOGS, rich or poor.

I cannot remember the gent's name now, but he spoke beautiful English and we got on very well indeed and I took him for coffee. He must have been impressed by me too for when he was leaving he opened his attaché case and presented me with a record of India's famous Sitar player, playing a gay rag. I took it home and slipped it on our record player. Lottie in the next room shouted "What on earth's that awful row?" I must admit it was a hellish noise. I gave it to my son George in case he could use it in his act.

However, on seeing Jim at coffee the next day I elaborated a little. "Jim", I said, "You certainly missed out. That guy was a millionaire and when he left he gave me a ruby ring. The ruby is as big as a pigeon's egg. I've given it to my wife."

Jim went green with envy. He really took it seriously; After all, Indian rajahs have been known to give exotic gifts. For weeks he kept asking about getting to see it, but the giggles from the others in 'the know' let the secret out. He took it well.

George Scott

One of the Scott family and a full board member.

It must have been difficult for the Scott family of the younger generations to suddenly find that they had to work hard for a living. They had so many outside interests and, in theory, all this should stop and only the firm's work should be attended to in normal hours.

I really first came in contact with Jo, or Will or George ‑ he answered to all of these names ‑ when I heard he was coming over to work at Glenrothes. It transpired that the board with the new virile team wanted Jo off the main board, but he would not agree. After all, he was a large shareholder. However, stupidly, in my opinion, he agreed to give up his main board directorship for an agreed sum. But would then get a special directorship at Glenrothes. What he did not realised then was that a special director has no rights and once he was at Glenrothes he could be sacked or made redundant without notice. This eventually happened.

Under me, and later A.C.N. and H.M.S he looked after raw material buying, a job I used to do as a small part‑time Jo needed an assistant after HMS came, and got it. So, he managed to spend lots of time arranging shoots and curling matches as he used to do in the good old days. When Glenrothes was due to close, there was no way Jo would get back to Dundee H. Burton Pirie suggested he buy a farm, but eventually gave him a Job with Pirie's own company. He died suddenly a few years later.

After Grange Closure

Jim Gardner once boasted to me that he virtually closed Grange Mill. While the strike was on while Cable was in charge of the Glenrothes unit, at a board meeting, Gardner came out with the statement "If they won't accept our terms, shut the place down".

This amazed me for as sales director we turned over at least £3,000,000 a year and he would be this figure less in his annual figures. It is unbelievable he could even think this way. It is equally hard to understand why the other directors agreed. But shut it down they did in September 1974

The funny thing, Cable appeared to gain in stature over his failure to get results at Glenrothes He was insufferable before, but now back in head office at Park Mill, Dundee, he was a bastard to all juniors. He was a fanatic over punctuality. One lad due to be interviewed by him at 10 a.m. knocked at his door at three minutes to 10 a.m. and the dressing down he got could be heard all down the corridor of power, Evidently early was as big a sin as being late

He tried it on with me occasionally, but I never gave an inch. In fact, I showed up his idiosyncrasies. It was his order if any of his people were off to visit customers, they must, emphasise must, telephone him at 10 a.m. daily to report. On a visit to Kidderminster, I did not telephone at all He pointed out that I had not obeyed his orders.

"Well, John, I had a problem. At 10 a.m. exactly when the train I was on was 20 miles short of Kidderminster, I didn't know whether to pull the communication cord, or jump out of the moving train and maybe get killed". My time keeping never arose again. If suitable I 'phoned, if not I just reported in when I got back. 
It was discovered that, because Glenrothes was now closed, Grange Mill had been paying 38% of all the overheads for the whole group. I was riot surprised for Webster admitted to me when he could not make a profit that he was "hoist by his own petard" for he had secretly managed to push extra expenses on to poor old Grange Mill, never expecting to run it one day. In theory he was cheating the other partners as well by taking all these expenses for J. & R. This was why he came over early in the partnership and gave me strict instructions that my reports to the joint board should tell them 'as little, as possible' in his, words, to prevent long discussions Now I knew the reason.
This 38% shook the board and John Cable was given the job of reducing the firm's overheads by at least 33%. He did this ruthlessly. If an office had three persons in it, there, would now be two; whether this worked or not. Sometimes he went on salaries, telling the foreman or chief clerk, two could go, or they themselves, which was it to be? The man was a bastard and enjoyed the task, and it was carried out with ruthless enthusiasm Cable had Tony Carina a nervous wreck. The 'phone had only to ring in Tony's office and Cable speak and Tony would be a changed man, and yet he was a very able extrusion expert and produced some really good quality stuff. But Cable, his master, was never pleased.

Tony had been down in England to a customer and after being back a few days his wife 'phoned in to say Tony was ill with a heart complaint Cable sent for me to go down to the customer to check out the results of Tony's work. When I got there, the first thing I was asked was "How was Tony?” "How did you know he was ill? I enquired”? Because we had to virtually carry him on to the 'plane when he was down here. "No one knew he had been ill for he was at work the next day, so scared was he of Cable. Tony died during a heart operation, but I wonder would Tony have survived if he had gone home to rest, Instead of reporting for work.

On moving from Glenrothes, I was given an office in Old Park Mill across the yard from the main offices. It was comfortable and handy, but, after I got my job description, which I will show after this, item, I found I was a full director of Tay Textiles. I had a visit from Cable. He came in, in a chatty mood, trying to be nice. ‘Strange', I thought, but the purpose soon came out. He would like me to relinquish my director's title, “Why”, I asked? “Because it detracts from mine”, he. replied. I was astounded, but I thought for a few seconds then I asked, “is this from the managing director or is this your own idea?” “my own idea”, he said, “Then, in that case, get lost'” He left the room but his parting shot was “don't forget I'm on the panel that does salary reviews”. I suppose I should have gone straight up to Burton Pirie, but as it was his word against mine and he was still a pal of K Hoskinson I decided to let it go. I did tell you he was a Bastard and an attempted blackmailer.

The Disposal of Grange March 1975

Since November I had been, for obvious reasons, the person concerned with security and disposal of plant. Apart from still living in the area I had virtually seen every machine built and laid down working conditions and knew every gear wheel and types of fibre suitable for them, something none of the directors for the last three years could say So, once again I was being moved on and I was highly amused at Raymond Scott's ideas of some of the 'explicit opinions' that would be called upon, especially under 'pricing', and if I was not available under demonstrating and explaining to customers, However, he was hardly ever in the mill and he had not learned any lessons, certainly in his choice of directors and manager.
The attached is the letter that went round a largish circulation.

JRS
3 March 1975

CL6 /3 /F2

GRANGE WORKS


Memo of above reference dated 5 November 1974 stated that Mr. H. B. Duffus would be the person concerned with the supervision of Grange for the purposes of security and disposal of plant as and when sold. Mr. Duffus has now been diverted to other duties and the work which he has hitherto been doing in connection with Grange will be reallocated as under with immediate effect:
Keys
The list of key holders will in future, comprise:


Mr. J. R. Scott


Mr. A. M. Scott


Mr. H. B. Duffus


Mr. E. Allan
as Securicor links


Mr. W. Gilligan


Mr. J. K. Glass


Securicor Limited
General Supervision
Mr. W. Gilligan, whose address is 6 Dornoch Place, Rimbleton, Glenrothes, telephone 755639, will become the main link with

Securicor and Securicor Limited is being notified accordingly, as are the Glenrothes police. Mr. Gilligan will make it his business
to drive round the outside of the works if possible once every weekday and make at least two visits each week inside the building. Since Mr. Gilligan spends most week‑ends in Dundee, Securicor Limited and the police, will be told that they may get in touch with Mr. Duffus, in any emergency during a week‑end.

Demonstrating and Explaining to Customers
Mr. Duffus is preparing some notes on this subject in relation to the specifications of the various machines and types of fibre processed. Arrangements for the conducting potential customers through the mill will be made ad hoc according to the circumstances and it is envisaged that it may be necessary to call upon one of the following:
Mr. H. M. Speirs
Mr. A. M. Scott

Mr E. Allan
Mr. W. Gilligan

Supervision of Withdrawals
When a Customer or his contractors requires access to the mill to
dismantle/ 
2

dismantle and pack machinery sold to him, Mr E. Allan will normally supervise the operation, be responsible for security

and for preparing the necessary documentation including advice notes. See memo CL6/3/F2 of 10 February 1975.

Listing and Allocation of Stores and Spares
This arises from time to time and is required in connection with preparing advice notes and invoices for any stores and spares sold. It will be carried out normally by Mr. J. K, Glass accompanied either by Mr Gilligan of Mr E. Allan.
Pricing
Where expert opinion is required it will be referred to Mr. H. M. Speirs.

Security ‑ Fibre Withdrawals

When the mill is opened up for the withdrawal of fibre or of yarn, responsibility for security will rest with Mr. G. W. E. Scott

or Mr. J. K. Glass or whoever is taking their place in the supervising withdrawal of the goods.

Advice on Individual Items

Where there is an enquiry for items that may require special identification or give rise to doubt as to whether they should be retained as integral parts of other major items of plant, Mr. H. M. Speirs will be asked for advice.

Invoices for Past Purchases

Where invoices are received for goods already supplied, or alleged to have been supplied, to Grange they will be passed to Mr. C. M. Burns for checking.

Distribution: Tay Textiles Board
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SCOTT & ROBERTSON LIMITED

JOB DESCRIPTION FORM

Name of Company
Tay Textiles Limited

Title of the Position:
Development Director

Name of Occupant:
H. B. Duffus

Responsible to:
Managing Director

Responsible for.
(i) Continuing development and improvement of


existing products and production processes, working


in conjunction with the appropriate Production


Director.


(ii) Monitoring of research and development in areas


of specific interest to the operating companies in the


Group.


(iii) Advising the Board of those developments which


would appear to be the suitable subjects for investment


by the Group, and presenting to the Board the


necessary technical, marketing and financial


information which would enable them to make a decision.


(iv) Managing any such projects which might be


adopted up to the commercial stage.


(v) Preparing an annual development budget for


submission to the Managing Director.

Subordinates:
Development Engineer
J. Bell


Assistant to Development Engineer
J. Grubb

(further technical staff may be recruited)

Functional Contacts.
(a) Co‑operate with the Production Directors to


ensure the continuing development of existing products


and to recommend to them any improved production


techniques which may become available.


(b) Through the Sales Director, maintain contact

with customers, particularly in the carpet industry,



so as 
to be aware of their changing product require-​



ments 
in the light of their own technical developments.



(c) 
Through the Marketing Manager, obtain all



marketing information relating to new projects, and



keep himself informed on relevant patent situations.



(d) 
Through the cost accountant, prepare profit



expectancy statements necessary for proper



evaluation of any projects.
(e) Through Jean‑Louis Brisson, maintain contact with European Textile Developments on development matters of mutual interest.
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The Hillbank complex was now a jute mill at Hillbank, a synthetic unit for continuous filament yarns and a heat setting department at Hillbank old weaving factory and Dura Mill a jute mill.

I had had a major part to play in all these, having been in charge of the erecting and getting them to the up and running stage.

The two jute mills had a manager under H.M. Speirs, the spinning director, but being always an empire builder, especially when you remember the extra staffing at Glenrothes, he persuaded the board to make some appointments which, on paper anyway, would enhance his image, he now needed a general manager under him.

The attached letter shows the appointments. I find it strange it was only signed by Douglas Cunningham the Group Secretary who had no powers in this direction.

The letter was made out on 2nd October 1979 wishing the three every success in their new appointments. By 1st October 1980 all were made redundant,

At this time in Tay Textiles life could be a short one and a gay one. 
NOT I C E

TAY TEXTILES LIMITED ‑ APPOINTMENTS

We are pleased to advise you of the following Appointments at Hillbank

MR. GEORGE KING
‑
General Manager in charge of Hillbank &



Dura Spinning Mills and the Synthetic Yarn



unit.



Mr. King came to us from Aberdeen and



was Manager of our Synthetic Yarn Unit at



Hillbank.

MR. LOUIS HACKNEY
Manager of Hillbank Spinning Mill.


Mr. Hackney was previously Manager of the 

Buist Spinning Company at Stobswell.
 MR STUART MUTCH
Manager of Synthetic Yarn unit.


Mr. Mutch has previous experience as a 

Production Manager of Furnishing & Effect Yarns 

and will join Tay Textiles Limited during 

October 1979.

We wish the above every success in their new appointments.

 MR. SPEIRS continues as Director in Charge of the Spinning Unit at Hillbank & Dura.

Douglas Cunningham

Group Secretary

2nd October, 1979.
LA.

Tay Textiles Directors

It is interesting to see the changes of directors on the Tay Textiles paper.

I wish I could get a copy from Lewis Robertson onwards. It would show the getting rid of Lewis and some of his directors, followed by the rise of the Big Four and their downfall. 
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 Textiles


LIMITED

PARK MILL DUNDEE DD1 9NA TELEPHONE 0382 23100      TELEX 76200  TELEGRAMS TAYTEX

Directors; K.S. Huskinson J. R. Scott J. Cable J. Gardner J. Macdonald G.W.E. Scott H. M. Speirs A.H.M. Stewart
   Special Directors: J.K. McGregor A.G .Murray H.B. Duffus
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Textiles


LIMITED

REGISTERED OFFICE

PARK MILL DUNDEE DD1 9NA TELEPHONE 0382 23100 TELEX 76200 TELEGRAMS TAYTEX

REGISTERED IN SCOTLAND 43975

Directors: 
Special Directors:

K.S. Huskinson (Chairman) L.C .Tolland J. Gardner H.M. Speirs T.K. Schofield Dr.I.J Grant H.B.Pirie
C.M. Bunri J .K McGregor D.D.T. Smith H.B Duffus G.S. Yaung


a member of the Scott & Robertson group

Telegrams: Taytex Dundee 
Telephone: (0382) 23100 
Telex: 76200

Registered Office:
SCOTT & ROBERTSON LTD.

Sabian House
(Registered in England No. 108191)

26/27 Cowcross Street
PARK MILL

London EC1 M 6DH
DUNDEE, DD1 9NA

BURTON PIRIE
SCOTLAND

Chairman & Chief Executive

Directors: H. B. PIRIE (Chairman), J. R. SCOTT, K. S. HUSKINSON, J. K. BOAG, J. R. HENDERSON, Professor D. F. MACDONALD
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Textiles

L[MITED

PARK MILL DUNDEE DD1 9NA TELEPHONE 0382 13100 TELEX 76200 TELEGRAMS TAYTEX

Directors: H.B. Pirie MCT1) K.S.Hukinson J. Cable J. Gardner J. Macdonald G.W.E. Scott H.M. Speirs A.H.M.

 Stewart Special Directors: P. Carena J.K.McGregor A.G. Murray a member of the Scott & Robertson group

Directors: K.S. Huskinson J.R.S. cott J.Cable J. Gardner J. Macdonald G.W.E. Scott H.M. Speirs A.H.M. Stewart
Special Directors: J.K. McGregor A.G.Murray H.B.Duffus

J. Raymond Scott

One of the characters of the jute trade.

Being family the Scotts’ were all handed directorships on a plate. They had loads of money, yet J.R.S. had streaks of meanness in him, quite unbelievable in many ways. Let me give you a few examples,

One day he asked George Thomson, engineering manager, if he could fix his pocket knife. Now, I was with George at the time. The knife was finished, all hanging loose, with a broken blade. George looked at me and I shook my head. George said, "l can do better than fix it" for every Christmas it was usual to get a few diaries and pocket knives, and so picking out a similar size to the one that was broken and loose he put it in an envelope and sent the office boy round to J.R.S's room with it.

As usual, from Raymond came a polite little note of thank you, but requesting his old knife back too. George by this time had tossed it in the scrap and a labourer spent a whole afternoon looking for it.

When Hillbank toilets were being renovated, Raymond asked for the toilet seats, which were mahogany, to be kept for him and as far as we know are still in stock at his Rosemount Home for he never threw anything away,

On a trip to Ireland with me we were drinking until bedtime and he asked me why did I think his friends called him 'The Undertaker?' How could I tell him it was because he still wore his father's old overcoat with velvet lapels and an old bowler hat. No, nothing ever got thrown away by J.R.S.

And yet, we liked him. He was always kind, polite and wrote thank yous’ for the littlest favour.

Lindsay Scott (Senior)

The C.A. among the older Scotts’ and a director.

What a likeable old chap he was. Almost one of the boys, but he had inherited some of the Scotts' genes,

He came to all our golf outings. On one particular outing to Arbroath, he said to hire him a caddy as he was getting on a bit. This we did. Well, he turned up as usual with his bag of clubs. I do not know what year they were made, but the bag had once been leather, but now hardly recognisable. The club would be the envy of the Japanese collectors of golf memorabilia, even St. Andrews Golf Museum would be interested.

However, the caddie did not know that this was one of the well heeled Scott jute family and he drew one of our young directors aside to ask if the old boy could afford to pay him.

I said Lindsay was a character. He spoke to his ball, called it whitey ‑ "Now just go in the hole whitey'" he said as, he putted. It missed ‑ "Yu bloody fish, whitey", he said and then he smacked it over the beach into the sea in disgust,

We all liked Lindsay'. 
Trip Abroad to U.S.A.
Ian Coats of Guthrie was a great believer in giving his senior people a wider vision and I was indebted to him for fixing a visit to the USA, starting at the home of tufting ‑ Chattanooga.

On arriving in New York I had an unusual experience as I came through Passport check. There was an announcement for Mr. Duffus to report to an information desk I did not think it could be me, as far as I knew no one would expect me, except that Jas. Scott & Sons (Dundee) had a New York Office, a place with which I was told to initially get in touch. However, it was me. I said, 'I'm Mr. Harry Duffus'. "Right", said the man "Follow me".

We set off through Customs and other points where the man just said "Hi" to those he passed. I followed him right outside to the taxi rank. He said, “Have a nice trip”, and disappeared.

I do not know yet who he was or why I told the people at Scotts’, but all denied knowledge of him. It is still a mystery.

I flew to Atlanta. The 'plane emptied and I found myself the only passenger on a Jumbo Jet going to Chattanooga, Quite an experience as I had the personal attention of all the nice looking Stewardesses

In Chattanooga I slept in a hotel there which had a plaque on the wall saying "in this room lay 27 wounded and dying Confederate soldiers during the battle between North and South". I had a funny feeling I could still sense their presence

I visited Candlewick at Dalton then headed for Charlotteville in N. Carolina where the World Textile Expo was being held. I met up with Dr. Harry Stout of the Jute Research Establishment and together we went to the information desk at Expo to see if we could get hotel accommodation. Neither of us being sure of our dates we had not booked a hotel. Usually accommodation is booked months, even a year or two, in advance, so it was no surprise to find all the hotels were full. However, a panel of local ladies had taken over the job of finding 'digs' with friends and neighbours. It was a standard price arranged per night, which I thought a little high, but we needed a bed so quickly accepted. We had not allowed for American kindness. Our hosts were truly examples of 'deep south hospitality'. We were made immediately members of their country club and insisted we use it. They paid for our dinners while there and at 6 a.m. one morning as arranged, got us up and away to visit the Great Smoky Mountains where at a village called Highland we met the chief of the Souix ‑ a truly unforgettable experience,

Our visit to the Expo was, as usual, most interesting, seeing all the latest machines and innovations which had taken place since the one four years earlier.

On leaving Charlotteville we clubbed together and sent our hosts a gift. It was the least we could do.

Harry and I split up and I set off by a small plane to Talladega in Alabama to visit the Wehadka Yarn Mills. While there I went to see "piccaninnies" picking cotton in the acres and acres of cotton fields. I was disappointed there were no black children working, only huge machines which shook the bushes so that the cotton balls fell off. Dirtier than handpicking but it was told to me that the kids would no longer pick cotton at the wages offered and so the landowners were forced to mechanise.

I also saw the last huge herd of American bison.

I then flew to Baltimore and picked up a car. They were all automatics and I had never driven one. I settled on the smallest one which was still huge in my opinion. A Mustang. It was mid afternoon when I was handed the key, I sat to read the instructions. I switched on ‑ all sorts of lights and noises flashed at me. Slowly by reading the manual I found I eliminated them all, but one eluded me. It was getting dusk. I thought 'to hell with it, I’ll go anyway'. I started the engine, took off the brake and the last flashing light stopped.

It was still stranger to find people passing me and glaring at me The reason was that I was going carefully slow ‑ in the fast lane!

However, after about an hour I was sailing along quite confidently, through Pennsylvania. I visited Magee, spinners and tufters in Bloomsberg P.A. and Malcolm Spinning in Hanover P A

I was driving along when coming towards me on the hard shoulder were a curious lot of people on buckboards. I thought there has be to be a film crew. I could see none. All were dressed in black, the ladies wore old fashioned shawls and bonnets, the little boys sailors suits, the men with little tufted beards also dressed in old fashioned suits and black hats. Curious!
I stopped at a Holiday Inn for the night. I asked about the old fashioned folk. 'Ah, that would be the Amish people, originally old Dutch settlers, who still retain their old way of life, and only marry within the sect If they don't they are banished, They sell farm produce to outsiders though and that would be them going to market'.

Holiday Inns all over America have the same carpets on their, floors; all candy stripes. They have their own little factory producing tufted carpets. Each row of tufts is a different colour. In Britain our people use up all their spare cones of yarn of different colours in similar carpet and it sells well wherever there is a coloured population like Birmingham.

During the rest of my time in USA, I visited Ravona, Warner and Swasey, makers of very good drawing frames in Cleveland, Ohio, and finally Leesona Corporation, who make find winding machines at Warwick, Rhode Island.

I then took time off to visit Bob and Jack Duffus, my cousins in Middletown, New York, before heading back home to the U.K.

Another good thing Ian Coates fixed was a course of training at Sundridge Park Management Centre for directors and senior managers. This was held at Bromley in Kent. It cost quite a few hundred pounds and it was really hard work. Most evenings after lectures we worked on case histories until 2 a.m. and even later to get them finished. It was worth it; however, I was honoured to give the speech from the students at the dinner on the final night and received a standing ovation.

My Speakers Club experience paid off here.

Hillbank

It was a slow build up for Hendry Speirs to get back into favour with the main board and other directors. For months he never went near the board room for coffee with the others, instead he had it in the small board room that existed in Hillbank from earlier days.

His stories of how near he was to making grange a viable mill were listened to with respect by Hillbank and Dura managers, but they knew the real facts. But slowly as the jute mill paid its usual way he started going to head office occasionally and then got bolder and went nearly every day.

In Meadow Mill the H. B. C. (International Bulk Containers) factory making bags that would hold a ton was in the doldrums. It used woven plastic tapes from our own extrusion factory, so was an important link in the whole of our extrusion chain, They had a manager that came from Timex Watches, I think, who had no bag or sewing experience and the production was so low that the factory was now considered for closure. The Board decided to give it a last chance, Jim Gardner was offered the job of revitalising it, but turned it down flat. He had no experience either.

Then H. M. Speirs came back from coffee one morning looking rather shaken. He was not offered the job he was given it. His big talk had got him into a corner again. I'm sure Hendry thought he had the thin edge of the wedge. It looked to him and me too, that by giving him this job that looked hopeless, he would get the 'order of the boot' and sacked if he failed.
Since going to Hillbank to work on synthetics and heat setting, I was his crutch again. He appealed to me for advice how to get out of it. I gave it a lot of thought. He had not done me any favours when he convinced Huskinson to .replace me with him at Glenrothes, but on the other hand, I did not like the deal he was getting from the others now.

My advice after consideration, was, 'Take the job! but lay down conditions, i.e.
1. Insist on me going with you, after all, I've been in bags, at Meadow before, also in London, Liverpool and Greenock. 
2. Get Dave Paris on pricing, for Dave and I worked prices at Greenock well 
3. Get Jim Bell on Development. 
With that team we can put Meadow back on its feet. He was not sure, but he really had got no option and so he put his proposal to the board and it was immediately accepted.

I do not intend to bore with a success story, but we needed to double bag output, we actually trebled it with help from Nan Salmond, the hardy wee assistant manageress. We tidied a slovenly factory into a neat well run unit. Hendry got most of the credit ‑ so what! I was getting to retirement age.
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Trouble Shooting at Douglas Plastics

One interesting case I was given was to have a look at our injection moulding plastic factory

It was a small neat unit but making a loss. I was to act as Quality Controller and after about three months report on its viability and advise on any plans for its future.

Being only a few miles from Lanark where my army friend, Arthur Barrie, lived, I fixed to lodge with him and to pay a fair rent. He objected to the latter, but there was no way my firm was to get away with 'free lodgings'.

I found there were two main divisions in the injection moulding field; (a) Industrial and b) toy making.

The industrial machines were obviously the largest and while these were making large circles like half circular tyres which fitted over the end of large concrete pipes the ends of which were useless if chipped during transport or by mishandling. This saved the pipe trade a fortune, and, by the way, were a money maker for us.

The large machine could make toys too. They had made, before my arrival, "Batman Car" bodies which had not turned out a best seller and had loads of rejects piled high in stock But now they were on "Mr. Men" chairs for kiddies They were excellent and strong too, for a 20 stone man could stand on them and they would still remain unbroken,

One problem, however, they needed two eyes put on them and these did not always come out right and so were rejected. I found loads and loads of rejects in the warehouse and factory. Plastic is mainly reusable but awkward to get rid of in large quantities.

Another problem which astonished me was the price for moulds which had to be made from a planished steel, so shiny and smooth that the hot plastic was immediately released when the mould opened. The price of a mould of a Mr. Man chair was around £70,000. Being in an area that provided government grants to small firms we got some help with these moulds, but usually tried to get the customer to pay 50% of the balance. Of course, they needed to sell thousands to recover their costs and make a profit.

Ten or twelve smaller machines were on a miscellany of toys and every day objects, like golf tees, rawlplugs, electric plugs, etc., but toys were the main lines. Especially for Fisher‑Price who were indeed a hard line quality control taskmaster. They gave us a tolerance of around 0.02mm. To give an example, we had to make a plastic drum with lid and inside a few items like drumsticks, mouth organ etc. The lid of the drum had (1) to be able to be pulled off by a 3 or4 year old child, but (2) stay on when turned upside down on its lid and shaken vigorously. Now the drum is made with hot molten plastic and shrinks slightly after removal from the machine. Slight variations in daily temperatures give slight variations in drum dimensions which caused huge rejections at the customers premises, as lids were slightly tight or slack.

Ferris wheels with little persons sitting in swaying baskets, with a little man turning a handle on its base, were also a headache All the little people were In different colours and all the pieces had to fit exactly. We got a pittance for, all this while all Fisher‑Price did was to stick a label on the product and charge more than ten times what we got for it.

We made "Stickle Bricks" in all colours. These bricks with all their little spikes which pushed into one another were very popular with children, but if one spike was retained in the mould the brick was rejected.
When I started to work there were bags and bags of rejects which would some day be recycled. My grandchildren were delighted with the 'rejects' I brought home. They could not have cared less if a spike or two was missing.
At the end of my term of duty, I duly made my report. Basically it suggested that toy making should be stopped as it was unprofitable and had very large rejection rates. In addition, it was labour intensive as squads were needed for quality control and packing into boxes before cartoning. I also suggested to go for more industrial uses as there was little waste and prices were good.

Needless to say, my advice was not taken. Ken Huskinson was never very clever in taking advice, he usually took cold feet if new ventures had a hiccough. The Douglas Plastics were put up for sale and the three chaps who were running the place did a management buyout

How did they do? I called on them one day a year after and, guess what, they had stopped all toys and did only industrials and were making money

Good luck to them
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City & Guilds of London

As a student I had taken a full five year course in textile manufacturing and was fortunate enough to get a first class pass and full technological certificate, of the. C & G. and won two silver medals.

After the above I went on to take my letters in the only textile organisation in the world. The Textile Institute of Great Britain.

As an A.T.I. and later a Chartered Textile Technologist, I was asked to be a part time lecturer in both Jute and flax spinning and weaving at Dundee Technical College in Bell Street, Dundee.

I accepted. The textile section of D.T.C. had a huge room full of spinning equipment of all kinds to the left of the building. The large lecture room which could hold at least 100 in the centre had a huge weaving shed with all types of looms to the right.

My ability to take classes in the Boys Brigade as well as the Bible Class helped me to cope well.

When I nave up the part time lecturing I was invited to become an examiner with the City & Guilds in textile subjects.

As well as setting the papers, which were vetted by an examining committee, chaired by the well known J P Halley, I was also expected to mark the papers, of those who sat. Papers would arrive from places as far away as India and Brazil.

You might think such a famous organisation as the C. & G. would pay well. Actually, no, for I was told it was an honour to be asked.

So, in fact, I got nothing for setting the papers and one and sixpence per paper You will realise I did not make a fortune and as marking papers could only be done at home after work, I spent many hours, almost as a labour of love.

There was one paper I received was so poignant and yet so funny, I kept a copy of it.

It is self explanatory, for in opening the folder I found the undernoted. "Answer to all questions"

“Respected Sir,

With due respect I beg to state that it is nothing but my ill luck that I joined the jute industry being an Arts Graduate. I am an exponent of my national language, Hindi. I am a very good poet and singer as well. But I have to earn my living to feed my four dependants. So no choice lies before me, and thus to earn my living I joined this industry. Since last six years I am working in spinning department and due to my good behaviour my labour is very pleased with me and thus my Production is tops. I know nothing about batching and preparing except some practical things. My employer compelled me to have some technical diploma and so I am here on this hot day of May fourth. Though God help them who help themselves, but none have seen God except Christ.

Now my future is in your hand,

Thanks,

Yours fondly

(Signed) 1964

I am afraid I ruined this young man's future!

[image: image34.jpg]



[image: image35.jpg])

The Directors of
Don & Low plc and Tay Textiles Limited
invite

Wr. H. B, Duffus

to a Ceremony to mark the Oficial Opening of their
Factory and Office Complex at
Camperdown, Kingsway West, Dundee,
by the Rt. Hon. Malcolm Rifkind, Q.C., M.P.
Secretary of State for Scotland
on Manday, 19th May, 1986, at 3.15 p.m.
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U.S.A. Report

Chattanooga Monday 21,10, 68.

Met Ed. Ingle as arranged, and travelled to Dalton to visit World Carpets.

World Carpets. Dalton.

We were surprised to find that this very large Tufted Carpet concern was in all cases (except one) running on continuous filament of some kind. Mainly Nylon, Acrylics and Polyester, and blends of these, and all were in white (fugitive tinted) for piece dyeing. Viscose is not used by this tufter, and considered old fashioned. The efficiency of the looms appeared very high indeed, and very few stoppages occurred during our tour of the works.

These Tinted Yarns, after dyeing, depending on blend, could come out of the dye bath as two or three‑tone, or solid coloured if desired. This method or storing carpet in white is considered to be far the most economic method, as they no longer carry a stock of all colours in the range, but simply dye to their sales requirements. 

Spinning points we noted were, fugitive tints were necessary to keep various white blends
 from mixing and the obvious fault here, of mixed fibres would only slow up the dyeing, which is a bit late to discover the fault .

No bits were rewound or re‑used, but simply jobbed off. World Carpets are in the wholesale and, cutting-up trade, and run their own sample making plant, but understand many firms send out to have their pattern books made up by a specialists.
As a matter of interest, there is a great scarcity of Jute backing cloth, and, also polypropylene at the moment, and it is a sellers market. Ed Ingle also stated that there is a big demand for 36” 8/40 which he cannot satisfy and wonders if Dundee have any surplus.

Bud Callahan. (Textile Rubber Chemical Co.) was out of town for one/two weeks, but fortunately Ed Ingle knew some of the firms that Bud Callahan had mentioned and arranged visits for us.

Coronet Carpets (Dalton) (Tufter) not as large as World Carpets, but apparently very efficient in the Tufted Trade, we took the buyer out to lunch.

Their tufted looms were also on continuous filament, only one running on staple (stock dyed), again all were tinted with a view to piece dyeing in solid or shade effects.
It was the opinion of the buyer, that as far as the Dalton area was concerned, there was no viscose or viscose/nylon blends being used, as all have upgraded the carpets over the last few years. We were warned that Polyester Yarns are very difficult to handle due to its bulk.
Chattanooga, Tuesday 22.10.68

Candlewick Yarns. Dalton Area. We met Dan Hurst today by arrangement, and Ed Ingles' assistant drove me out to their new Spinning Plant. 'We were very impressed with Mr. Hurst, and he certainly knows his Spinning.

He first showed us round his Knitting Yarn Mill. This is even newer than Glenrothes, and the floors were of beautiful polished wood with specially constructed vents to assist in the air conditioning. If machinery is shifted around, it is also easier to fill up a wooden floor and re-site the vents. Carding, spinning and winding in this mill was of course, very different from ours, because he was spinning much lighter counts, and so had no relevance for us.
We then went over to his Carpet Spinning Mill, which was obviously much older, and the machinery was probably brought over from some other mill. Saw six or eight cards of which only two were new, and were of the worsted type.

He was using '."Warner & Swasey draw frames, he had however, modified the back rails to guide than the usual 4 into 1, as he strongly believes in the older method of extra doublings, and this he does over three drawings and not two, as most other firms do. This is to get a much better blending, and he tells me that complaints of blending are so numerous, that only by this method has he achieved better results than his competitors.

Another feature of this mill was that he cut out his own staple lengths.
Obviously to do this, he buys his material in top form, and cuts it randomly in 4½/ 5½ lengths, the cut being diagonally. He also believes in cross winding in preference to precision, and the machines were Leesona scroll cross winders with Yarnspecs. This, we may add, was the only mill with electronic clearers, all the others seen had simply scrapers.

One idea for bulky slivers in can, was the use of a bucket type handle which was lifted up when the can was full, thus holding the sliver in position until required. As these bulky slivers can rise to three feet above the top of the can, this idea saved waste, for the slightest movement causes sliver to topple.
All slivers in white ‑ Mr. Hurst said he can sell every pound of yarn in white, so why go into colours with all its matching problems. (he sells 1,000,000 lbs per week). His packages were not very big, and certainly not as big as ours in spinning or twisting.

So far, the American Trade is very different from ours, and we wonder how long it will be before we follow their trend.

Candlewick Ltd..
We spoke to Mr. Hurst regarding the Czechoslovakia B.D. 200 spinning machine, and he had actually visited the Czech plant after Basle, last year. He was not impressed, and thought they had not‑ yet achieved, the breakthrough, and it might take up to five years yet. Even then, he would not be one of the first to rush in and buy, as this idea was patented in 1875, and it was taking, a long time to find the answers.

We were not shown the blending plant, but there appeared to be a large number of hoppers for good blending, at the far end of the building.
We were impressed with the cleanliness of the mill, due to the amount of blowing 
and sucking devices at every machine. The se devices were on travel rails over and round each machine.

Ceilings were very low, and air conditioning built in. Mr. Hurst does not believe in wick or oil rings, and only has the old fashioned type of rings which are simply wiped by a pad once a day, and saves oil stains.

In Twisting, he had a home made creel, seven foot high, and the frame was loaded by the aid of mobile steps. It certainly kept the floor space free for working space and barrows.

He had a very fine control panel which gave management an immediate check on every productive 
machine.

Wednesday, 22.10.68

Wehadkee Yarn Mills Talladega. (Mr. Jack Swan).
We met Mr. Swan the General Manager, and Charlie Pope his assistant, and entertained Mr. Swan to lunch.

We had an open and frank discussion, and they certainly recommend Warner & Swasey Draw Frames, which they have run for some considerable time, and find them almost trouble free. In their man‑made mill, they are using worsted type cards, but their procedure for raw material is slightly different from us. They blend 20/30,000 Lbs. a time over ten hopper blenders, and at every second one, they apply a fugitive tint and then from the opener, it is blown into a double baler and stowed for further treatment. In other words, they double blend. Again all in white (tinted). Having blended the bales again over ten hopper blenders, the process is similar – Worsted Cards, Drawing and Spinning.

All their sliver cans are spring loaded, and they must put a lot into them, or the sliver is so bulky the sliver stands 2/3 feet higher than the can.

They all use Warner & Swasey draw frames, and Saco-Lowell Spinning frames. As these spinning frames were double sided, sliver had to be fed up and over head, and this caused a fair amount of fly dust and loose fibre, but here again, the place was fitted with travelling cleaners.

Winding – all scroll types, and it appears that Precision is not liked in this area as it tends to tension the yarn and pull it tighter, and this reduces the bulk. This firm makes about 1180,000 lbs/week and at the winding only scrapers are in use. Spools are sold by size, and not measured lengths.

Tinting has its problems, if not evenly spread, some remain behind in the dying process, and results in streaky carpet. They had their own Autoclave for the heat setting of twist, and this meant the yarn was mode up in skeins of hanks, and they use a T. P. I of 3¼, Hanks put into Autoclave special container, and they do about 200 lbs/hr (a slow process). They have problems with this. Different blends had different shrink rates, and there is a slow wind back from hank to spool. 
This mill was about 100,000 sq. ft., including office canteen, and research block, and built about three years ago. While not on a par with Candlewick, it was certainly up to date with many of its ideas.

We the visited their dye works. All dying was of pressurised cheeses, and they had still to rewind after dying from cheese to cone. Their kettles were small, but they dye 100,000 lbs of material a week in and area only about 10,000 sq. ft., and we did not pick up much information re dying.

We also looked round their Cotton Mill and while interesting, did nor give us the type of information for which we were looking. Processes were almost the same, but counts were light.

The heat in Alabama was 80˚ in October, and we were interested to find that finished yarn was put into a room dripping with steam, so that 15/16˚ moisture was put back into the yarn. While this applied to the cotton mill, we wonder if they did this with the man-made. This mill admitted to doing about 120/150,000 Viscose or viscose blends for the tufted trade.

Greenville Exposition Thurs/Fri 24.25.10.68.

We joined Dr Stout of the B.J.T.R.A., at this exhibition, but as our interests were not the same, we only met at meal times. We later travelled up through Pennsylvania to N.Y. together, were we again split company.

We spent a lot of this time at the stand where Roberts, were showing a full system for spinning of Acrylic Yarns, which it was doing very well in our opinion.
Roberts "Loftspun" system has a range of .65s c.c. to 8s c.c,
Beginning with double blending, it passes to (a) The Dyncard, a carding machine delivering into cans holding up to 80 lbs., at a rate of 180/200 lbs/hr. We would need two cards per system (b) Autoleveller and (c) dual Paradrifters. After the two draftings on drawframes there is a choice (1) Can-back loft spun with a third drawing, otherwise similar to that in use at Glenrothes, or (2) the sliver is passed over a Paralofter, which drafts and rubs sliver individual balls of about 16lb weight. Those are hung above spinning, one per two spindles and no cans or space needed. Spinning is by a 7" Ranger Ring Frame of 144, spindles with controlled balloon spindles 5½ ring, 14" traverse. A double sided bobbin holds 3.4 lbs yarn net.
Roberts suggest an assembly winder before twisting but we were not taken with their twist frame which failed to knock off on the various times I tested it. Their winder was a very ordinary looking winding machine doing cross wind, with a 10" traverse running at about 500 yards/ minute.
We had a long discussion with their managing director R. Pomerans, (the one who stopped 
the British works for over a year) and asked him to quote for one system to assess the price.
Saco Lowell.
We studied the new winder for carpet yarns, but was not particularly impressed with it.

Travelling Cleaners
There
were a number of makers exhibiting travelling cleaners. Two of these, the American Monorail Co., and the Bahson Combojet appeared efficient.
Blending. Equipment
Fiber Controls Corp. N.C. has designed Its M‑yLS series of hopper feeders especially for long staple carpet requirements but we only saw the cotton version of this but we have literature, re the carpet plant.
Warner & Swasey.

We spent some time here watching the demonstration model working, which it did very well, and we decided to follow this up by a visit to their works in Cleveland.
Shirley.
The English Research establishment had a number of small testing units which we may acquire as we grow.
Literature.

We have a fair amount of this concerning small items of interest but which we are retaining meantime, and some for passing to the parent company concerned.

Malcolm Spinning Co. - Monday 28.10.68
We met Cy Rae, and he put us on to his works manager George Proulx to guide us round his mill. They have about 15 of which three are Mackie MK 6B. Mr. Proulx verified again that Warner & Swasey 
Drawings are definitely better than Mackie Type but much dearer, although well worth the extra money. They had many types of cards, mostly worsted type and flax type converted.

99% of production Is In white, (tinted), and he appeared to do a large amount of 100% Nylon waste, Carss 200lbs/hour and he used three cards for two systems. He is using Whiting Spinning Frames with a 2 or 2½ lb. package and we were not taken with these.
He was doing commission twisting of continuous filament, and re‑winding in 3 Ply. 
The C.I.F. was tinted three shades, and on dying come out three different colours. No precision wound being done all cross-wound thus allowing the yarn to go in spool relaxed.

He had an autoclave (large model) and could do 1000, lbs. every 70 minutes, Skeins 84'” were leased six times to prevent ravelling,


After autoclaving one way, he turned skeins Inside out and gave them a second treatment. He warned us autoclaving wan a tricky business, but he seemed more efficient than the Wehadakee Mills in rewinding from skeins,

They had a very fine test room which included a photo‑electric ​microscope. (cost $5,000).
We had lunch with Cy Race, and although Jim Cowning had warned us not to be too "snoopy", we found that Cy Race had as many questions for us as we had for him.
His thoughts on Trade were 'British will swing to better blends, and Dyers will come into piece good dying, in greater numbers. Bigger blends poundage ways will be asked for and we should prepare for this.
It considering expansion, we should consider bigger and better blenders like the "Hargarth” (note: B.M.K. Use this in their mill In Kilmarnock. and are delighted with it). They en double‑blending of all batches, and even then get many complaints re shaded carpets, and. were shown a bulging file for this year alone. They were extremely helpful to Dr. Stout, putting him In touch with a number of people who could give him the typo of Information he desired.
Magee Carpet Co. Bloomsberg ‑ Tues. 29.10.68.

Met Mr. Eugene Hartman by appointment, and he passed us on to a guide for a visit to mill and tufted factory.

We saw a lot of colour going through, as they run their dye-house, but restricted dyeing to Acrylics only, all others in white (tinted). They had a blending line of ten hoppers blowing straight to double baler. Bales stored in the warehouse and brought back to be re-blended all over again - they were tinted on first blending. We noted each bale had its quota of re‑usable waste included.
Worsted Cards were old, all types of draw frames in use, and Whiting spinning frames. All yarn cross-wound without electronic clearers, only scrapers used.

They had a very large tufting factory, and consider themselves fourth in size,
They used all kinds of backing, Jute, Poly‑propylene and. non-​woven, and it their opinion that non‑woven would take over in about five years time.
We did not have a very technical type of guide and were, not able to gain much from him.
Visit to Warner & Swasey, Cleveland. ‑ Wed. 30.10. 68.
We visited their workshops, and was conducted round by the General Sales Manager.

The machines are a precision job made like a "Swiss watch". They guarantee if you have a number of machines, that parts are all perfectly interchangeable. The machines are built in unit parts to alloy, for quick take down and interchangeability. We were particularly impressed with their Servo Unit which acts on the memory wheel in their Auto‑leveller, and is far superior to the Mackie type.

We had good reports from the Spinners we visited and from what we have seen there is no doubt that they are superior to our machines.
They even take back machines, and do a complete overhaul and resale. These machines sell at only a slightly lesser price than new.

Visit to Leesona Winding Machinery Co, Warwick Rhode Island. Thur. 31.10. 68.
We were shown their demonstration room by Mr. Kreiner (sales manager) and saw all the latest gadgets included in their machines. Actually, the machines are basically the same as the one we have at Glenrothes, which does a pretty good job. They are experimenting, with banks to take large packages, as so far, no winding machinery company have produced this. We have done our own modifications at Glenrothes to accommodate the new Twist Package.

They consider the Hengstler Counter to be the best available. It was interesting to note that they had Yarnspecs and Uster scanners on various machines, and that Yarnspecs have a new model coming out soon.

Middletown NY. Dekor flocking Corp.

While at Middletown we came on an agent who sells flocking machines for Carpets. He states the German branch of Singers sells machinery for flocking straight onto any type of backing, using a short staple of any size. The flock is magnetised, and drops in a vertical position onto the backing, and fixed there. I have samples and literature if of any interest,

Conclusions.

This trip has certainly widened my outlook on spinning and tufting, and. providing we follow the U.S.A. trends in a few years time, we should be prepared to: ‑
1) Allow for additional blending, by considering a larger type blender, and also a baling device. We already have some tinting machines.

2) Carding: Our Mackie cards were well enough thought of, but it might be better if we decide to install say, a Roberts system, to take the whole system, including cards.

3) Draw frames: Warner & Swasey were the finest draw frames we have ever seen, and certainly recommend them it we decide on a bastard system for bulky yarns.

4) Roberts Spinning was the only firm that had a decent size package (3/4 
Ibs.) and to fall back on Whting* spinning would, I feel, be a backward step. It was considered that Mackie spinning is inclined to tension the yarn too tightly, and thus reduce its bulk although we believe they have a newer machine now on 'the market.

* The bulk of places visited used Whiting spinning frames.

JOB DESCRIPTION
July 1969

Title: 
General Manager (Executive Director).

Responsible to:
Board of Directors.

1. Policy

Executing the policy of the Board as set out from time to time and recorded in the Board Minutes.
2. Management Report: 


Maintaining a continuous review of the Company’s operations, and where necessary  in conjunction with the Treasurer presenting a monthly management report, supported by management accounts, showing the progress and current position of the company’s affairs.

3. Budgets:
In conjunction with the Treasurer producing in January of each year an annual budget for the following financial year.


(March to February).
4. Cash Flow:
In conjunction with the Treasurer, ensuring that strict financial control over the company’s cash flow is maintained.

5. Marketing:
Giving adequate attention to a continuous study, in association with the selling companies, of the effectiveness of marketing the company’s products, and ensure that adequate analysis and control of performance is maintained.

6. 
Ensuring an adequate feed-back of information from customers on such aspects as quality, price, delivery, new product requirements and developments and competitive movements.

Production
7.
Approving manufacturing plans submitted by production management.

8.
Preparing and submitting to the Board, in conjunction with the Treasurer and such others as he may consider desirable, plans for the extension and development of production facilities: and

9.
Maintaining liaison with major machinery suppliers to ensure that new developments are incorporated in both existing and planned plant.

10.
Maintaining contact with major suppliers of raw materials to ensure that the most competitive sources of such materials are utilised.

Development
11.
Through customer, supplier and other contacts, monitoring developments in fibre, yarns and techniques for dyeing and printing to ensure that the company is in the van f production application of such developments.

12.
Maintaining adequate liaison with the co-partner companies, their subsidiaries and associates, to obtain the maximum commercial benefit.

Personnel
13.
Preparing and maintaining definitions and the structure of responsibility of all executive and supervisory functions within the company.

14.
Ensuring adequate facilities for staff training and development.

Immediate Subordinates

Production Manager.


Chief Clerk.

Functional contacts

Treasurer.


Sales & Marketing Departments (S. & R.).


Marketing Manager (A. & SH.).


Secretary.


Production Manager (S. & R.) 

London, 13th June, 1969
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